Public Document Pack

AGENDA FOR THE EXECUTIVE
Date:

Monday, 7 April 2014

Time:

6:00 pm

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

Executive Members:

Councillor S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader)
Councillor T M Cartwright, MBE, Public Protection (Deputy Executive Leader)
Councillor B Bayford, Health and Housing
Councillor K D Evans, Planning and Development
Councillor Mrs C L A Hockley, Leisure and Community
Councillor L Keeble, Streetscene

-2-

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of Executive held on 3
March 2014.

3.

Executive Leader's Announcements

4.

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct.

5.

Petitions

6.

Deputations
To receive any deputations, of which notice has been lodged.

7.

Minutes / References from Other Committees
To receive any reference from the committees or panels held.
Matters for Decision in Public

Note: Where an urgent item of business is raised in accordance with Part 3 of the
Constitution, it will be considered with the relevant service decisions as appropriate.
8.

Health and Housing

Key Decision
(1)

New Tenancy Agreement (Pages 7 - 42)
A report by the Director of Community.

(2)

Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy 2014-17 (Pages 43 - 76)
A report by the Director of Community.

(3)

Affordable Housing Programme Update (Pages 77 - 88)
A report by the Director of Community.

(4)

Affordable Housing Development Opportunities (Pages 89 - 102)
A report by the Director of Community.

9.

Leisure and Community/Policy and Resources

Key Decision
(1)

Western Wards Pool - Project Approval (Pages 103 - 116)

-3-

A report by the Director of Community and the Director of Finance and
Resources.
Non-Key Decision
(2)

Delegated Approval for Community Funding Applications
Following the changes to the management structure, as reported to the
Executive on 3rd March 2014, the Executive is asked to approve delegation of
Community Funding applications under £100 to the Director of Finance and
Resources (or in their absence the Director of Community).

10. Streetscene
Key Decision
(1)

Award of Tender - Hedge and Sports Ground Maintenance (Pages 117 124)
A report by the Director of Environmental Services.

Non-Key Decision
(2)

Project Integra Action Plan 2014-17 (Pages 125 - 140)
A report by the Director of Environmental Services.

11. Planning and Development
Non-Key Decision
(1)

Welborne Quarterly Financial Update (Pages 141 - 146)
A report by the Director of Planning and Development.

12. Policy and Resources
Non-Key Decision
(1)

Broadcut Depot - Boundary Wall (Pages 147 - 154)
A report by the Director of Finance and Resources.

13. Exclusion of Public and Press
To consider whether it is in the public interest to exclude the public and
representatives of the Press from the remainder of the meeting on the grounds that
the matters to be dealt with involve the likely disclosure of exempt information, as
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972.
Exempt Matters for Decision

-4-

Note: Where urgent items of business are raised in accordance with Part 3 of the
Constitution, they will be considered with the relevant service decisions as appropriate.
14. Leisure and Community
Non-Key Decision
(1)

Citizen of Honour (and Young Citizens of the Year) (Pages 155 - 172)
A report by the Director of Community.

15. Planning and Development
Non-Key Decision
(1)

Welborne Plan Evidence Studies - Variations to Contracts (Pages 173 176)
A report by the Director of Planning and Development.

P GRIMWOOD
Chief Executive Officer
www.fareham.gov.uk
28 March 2014

For further information please contact:
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2

Minutes of the
Executive
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Monday, 3 March 2014

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

Present:
S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader)
T M Cartwright, MBE, Public Protection (Deputy Executive
Leader)
B Bayford, Health and Housing
K D Evans, Planning and Development
Mrs C L A Hockley, Leisure and Community
L Keeble, Streetscene
Also in attendance:
J V Bryant, Chairman of Planning and Development Policy Development and Review
Panel
Mrs P M Bryant, Chairman of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee
P J Davies, Chairman of Housing Tenancy Board; for item 8(1)
Mrs M E Ellerton, Chairman of Health and Housing Policy Development and Review
Panel
M J Ford, JP, Chairman of Appeals Committee
Miss T G Harper, Chairman of Streetscene Policy Development and Review Panel
D C S Swanbrow, Chairman of Scrutiny Board

Page 1

Executive

1.

-2-

3 March 2014

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies given for this meeting.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 10
February 2014 be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

3.

EXECUTIVE LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements made by the Executive Leader at this meeting.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.

5.

PETITIONS
There were no petitions submitted at this meeting.

6.

DEPUTATIONS
The Executive received a deputation from Mrs Mary Dunne in relation to item
8(1) – Housing Allocations Policy and was thanked accordingly.
The Executive received a deputation from Mr Raymond Hale in relation to item
9(2) – Community Action Fareham Service Level Agreement and was thanked
accordingly.
The Executive Leader agreed to bring these items for consideration forward on
the agenda.

7.

MINUTES / REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES
There are no Minutes/References from Other Committees to be reported at
this meeting.

8.

HEALTH AND HOUSING

(1)

Housing Allocations Policy

The comments of the deputee were taken into account in determining this
item.
At the invitation of the Executive Leader, Councillor P J Davies addressed the
Executive on this item.

Page 2

Executive

-3-

3 March 2014

Following a debate on the item, it was proposed that the Housing Allocations
Policy be amended to ensure that current tenants be treated in the same way
as new and existing applicants for housing.
RESOLVED that the Executive approves the amendments to the Housing
Allocations Policy, as appended to the report, for implementation from 1 April
2014, subject to the further amendment of the policy to ensure that couples
currently living in Fareham Borough Council bedsit accommodation being
allowed to remain on the housing waiting list and considered to be in housing
need; and that the policy be reviewed in six months.
9.

LEISURE AND COMMUNITY

(1)

Westbury Manor Museum - Hampshire Solent Cultural Trust Proposals

RESOLVED that the Executive approves:
a) a three year funding agreement between Fareham Borough Council
and Hampshire County Council for the provision of the museum service
in Westbury Manor from 1 April 2014;
b) a 10% reduction in the Councils current level of financial contribution to
the cost of the service which will result in a payment of £64,530 per
annum for the duration of the three year agreement;
c) that the Council continues loaning the bier hand cart to Hampshire
County Council from the formation date of the Trust for not less than 25
years duration so that Hampshire County Council may, in turn, loan this
item to the Trust; and
d) that Hampshire County Council and Fareham Borough Council develop
a strategic vision for the integration of cultural facilities in the Borough of
Fareham.
(2)

Community Action Fareham Service Level Agreement

The comments of the deputee were taken into account in determining this
item.
RESOLVED that the Executive agrees to:
a) extend the existing SLA for a further period of twelve months, until 31
March 2015;
b) a reduction of 2% in the Council’s grant to CAF, in line with the reduction
implemented by Hampshire County Council;
c) ring-fence £10,000 of the grant funding for the establishment of an
Enabling Fund to respond to emerging community need; and
d) delegate authority to the Executive Member for Leisure & Community to
approve the award of the enabling funding for any initiative brought forward
by CAF.
Page 3

Executive

10.

3 March 2014

-4-

POLICY AND RESOURCES

(1)

Business Rate Relief

RESOLVED that the Executive agrees:
(a)

to vary the Charitable Relief Policy to allow relief to be granted in the
specific circumstances detailed in the report; and

(b)

to delegate the award of the discretionary relief, as detailed in the report,
to officers in accordance with relevant guidance issued by Government.

(2)

Daedalus Investment Project - Progress Report

RESOLVED that the Executive notes the progress made to date on the
Daedalus Investment Project.

(3)

Efficiency Savings

RESOLVES that the Executive:

11.

(a)

notes the proposed reductions in the staffing establishment, as set out in
the report;

(b)

agrees the proposal
establishment budgets;

(c)

agrees the savings under the headings “procurement” and “proceeds”;
and

(d)

agrees that the confidential Appendix A be no longer treated as exempt
information and be open for public inspection.

to

meet

redundancy

costs

from

existing

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
RESOLVED that in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 the
Public and Press be excluded from the remainder of the meeting, as the
Executive considers that it is not in the public interest to consider the matters
in public on the grounds that they will involve the disclosure of exempt
information, as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act.

12.

POLICY AND RESOURCES

(1)

Development of Environmental Health Partnership

RESOLVED that the Executive, subject to a favourable decision by Gosport
Borough Council, agrees to:
Page 4

Executive

-5-

3 March 2014

a)

enter into an agreement with Gosport Borough Council for the delivery
of environmental health functions as set out in this report;

b)

agree to the transfer of Gosport’s environmental health staff to
Fareham under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of
Employment) (TUPE) Regulations;

c)

deliver the environmental health function to both Councils through the
Fareham and Gosport Environmental Health Partnership; and

d)

delegate authority to the Chief Executive Officer after consultation with
the Executive Leader to enter into such agreements and undertake all
ancillary matters as necessary and on such terms as are reasonable.

(2)

Irrecoverable Debts

RESOLVED that the debts listed in Appendix A to the report, be written off as
irrecoverable.

(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 7.06 pm).

Page 5

Page 6

Agenda Item 8(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate
Objective:

Health and Housing
New Tenancy Agreement
Director of Community
Housing Strategy
A Balanced Housing Market

Purpose:
To agree a new tenancy agreement for issue to tenants on a secure, introductory or
flexible tenancy.

Executive summary:
This report considers the replacement of the existing secure and introductory
tenancy agreements with a new tenancy agreement following consultation with
tenants and elected members.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive approves the new Tenancy Agreement, as appended to the
report, and requests officers to issue this as soon as possible to all current tenants
on a secure, introductory or flexible tenancy.
Reason:
To harmonise the current tenancy agreements, merging these into one agreement
which covers secure, introductory and flexible tenancies.

Cost of proposals:
Printing and postage costs associated with issue of new agreement to all current
tenants. These can be met from existing budgets.

Appendices:

A: Copy of New Tenancy Agreement

Background papers: None

Page 7

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 07 April 2014
Subject: New Tenancy Agreement
Briefing by: Director of Community
Portfolio: Health and Housing
INTRODUCTION
1. At the present time the Council have two different tenancy agreements in use for
current tenants, these being:
•

Secure Tenancy Agreement; and

•

Introductory Tenancy Agreement

2. The secure tenancy agreement was last updated in June 2006; the introductory
tenancy agreement has not been updated since the Council set up Introductory
Tenancies in April 2002. As a result it was proposed to review and update these
tenancy agreements in 2013/14.
3. A report outlining plans to review the existing introductory and secure tenancy
agreement was considered by the Health and Housing Policy Development Review
Panel at its meeting on 14th March 2013. I was agreed that a working group with two
elected members, a tenant representative from the Housing Tenancy Board and
officers be set up to review the agreements.
CONSULTATIONS
4. Following a number of working party meetings a copy of a draft revised tenancy
agreement was presented and discussed at the Health and Housing Policy
Development Review Panel on 18th July 2013 and Housing Tenancy Board on 29th July
2013.
5. Further consultation on the draft revised agreement was carried out in August and
September 2013 with the General Tenants Forum, other Council teams such as
Building Services, Community Safety, Environmental Health, Strategic Housing and
Streetscene Services, and with Southampton and Fareham Legal Services
Partnership.
6. In light of feedback received from the above consultation, further amendments were
made to the revised draft tenancy agreement prior to consultation with tenants.

Page 8

7. The revised draft tenancy agreement was sent to all current tenants regardless of
whether they held a secure, introductory or flexible tenancy for consultation purposes in
December 2013 to seek their views and comments. The closing date for consultation
was 31st January 2014, which allowed tenants 8 weeks to respond.
8. A number of tenants made comments and suggestions on the revised agreement and
these where possible have been incorporated in a further draft of the agreement.
Responses and acknowledgments have been sent to all tenants that responded to the
consultation.
9. Further consultation has been carried out with Southampton and Fareham Legal
Services Partnership and the final draft has been shared with the working group that
was originally set up to review the tenancy agreement.
PROPOSAL
10. It is proposed that the Executive notes the consultation carried out and approves the
new tenancy agreement.
11. It is further proposed that officers be requested to issue formal 4 week notice of
variation to all current tenants and provide them with a copy of the new tenancy
agreement which will take effect on expiry of the notice period.
RISK ASSESSMENT
12. There are no significant risk considerations in relation to this report.
CONCLUSION
13. This report has provided the Executive with background on the updating of the current
tenancy agreements, details of the consultation that has taken place on the revised
agreement and a copy of the new tenancy agreement.

Reference Papers:

Review of Tenancy Agreements reports to Health and Housing
Policy Development Review Panel 14th March 2013 and 18th
July 2013.
Review of Tenancy Agreements report to Housing Tenancy Board
29th July 2013.

Page 9

Page 10

B

Secure
Tenancy Agreement
DRAFT FOR COMMENT

PLEASE NOTE THAT THIS IS AN IMPORTANT DOCUMENT
AND SHOULD BE KEPT IN A SAFE PLACE
www.fareham.gov.uk

Page 11

Contents

Definitions

P3

1. Introduction

P4

2. The Tenancy Agreement

P 4-5

3. Tenancy Rights and Responsibilities

P 6-8

4. Rent

P 9-11

5. Use of Property

P 12-18

6. Anti-Social Behaviour

P 19-22

7. Repairs and Improvements

P 23-25

8. Moving Out

P 26-27

9. Signing the Tenancy Agreement

P 28

10. Notes

P 29-31

11. Contact Details

P 32

2
Page 12

7 April 2014

Definitions

•

Assigning – is a means of transferring interest in the tenancy to another
party

•

Communal areas - means land around your home that is owned by us for
housing purposes and which is not exclusively let to you or your neighbours. It
therefore includes: stairways and landings in blocks of flats and communal
parking and access areas.

•

Entitlement - payment or service you qualify for or receive.

•

Improvement - means any alteration or addition to the property including the
garden.

•

Locality - means your home and the area nearby (whether or not it is part of
the communal areas).

•

Service Charge - means a charge for services such as cleaning and grounds
maintenance e.g. grass cutting.

•

Sub-let - means where someone pays you rent to have exclusive use of part
or all of your home.

•

We/us/ours - means Fareham Borough Council and its Housing Service and
the staff responsible for its housing work.

•

Written Permission - a letter from the Tenancy Services Division of the
Council.

•

You/your/yours - means the tenant (or joint tenants) named in the original
tenancy sign-up or to whom the tenancy is passed on.

•

The property - means the house or flat, including any garden, balcony or
other land, which is let exclusively to you.
3
Page 13

7 April 2014

1. Introduction
1.1

This agreement sets out the rights and obligations of the Council and you as
the tenant(s). It is the legal contract between us and you.

Understanding this agreement
1.2

Please take time to read all of this agreement as it is important and applies to
you. If you have a different type of tenancy, so not a secure tenancy, then it
will be made clear to you at the start and in writing which parts of the tenancy
do not apply to you and if there are any different rules which apply.

1.3

Where one part of the agreement needs to be read with another part, we have
shown you. The agreement should be read completely to be understood.

1.4

Sometimes changes to the law affect tenancy agreements like this. This
agreement is therefore subject to any such changes in the law.

2. The Tenancy Agreement
This is a legal contract. It describes the rights and responsibilities of Fareham
Borough Council (“the Council”) as your landlord and of you the tenant.
•

The address of the property rented in this agreement:

•

The name(s) of the tenants(s):
1.
2.

•

This weekly tenancy starts on Monday

•

The type of property:
Suitable for a dog to be kept:

YES / NO (delete as appropriate)

•

The maximum number of people allowed to live at property:

•

The rent for the property: £

4
Page 14

7 April 2014

The rent includes the following charges:
Water rates charge

Yes / No

£

Heating charge

Yes / No

£

General service charge

Yes / No

£

Support service charge

Yes / No

£

(These amounts are subject to variation with 4 weeks’ notice given by the
Council).
•

Arrears for a Former Council Tenancy (cross through if not applicable)
A repayment agreement has been made to repay former tenancy arrears,
known at the time this tenancy agreement is signed. This is for:
Amount

Address of Former Tenancy

£
£
Total £

•

The Council lets the property described above subject to the tenancy
conditions set out in this agreement. If there is more than one tenant this
agreement applies to you jointly.

•

Any notice (whether in proceedings or otherwise) may be served on Fareham
Borough Council by sending it or delivering it to:

Tenancy Services Division
Department of Community
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way
Fareham
PO16 7AZ

5
Page 15

7 April 2014

3. Tenancy Rights and Responsibilities
3.1

This agreement is a legal contract and signing it makes you a tenant. This
gives you rights and responsibilities that are the conditions of your tenancy.

3.2

If you are joint tenants each of you is responsible for keeping to this
agreement, including paying the rent.

3.3

As the tenant you must keep to the conditions of this agreement. You are
responsible for regular rent payments and for the behaviour of friends,
relatives, any other people (including children) and pets living in or visiting the
property, communal area or locality.

3.4

Occupation of the property:
a) You must use the property as your only or principal home.
b) If you do not use the property as your only or principal home, your secure
tenancy will end and we will take action to repossess the property.
c) You must tell us in writing if you will be away from the property for more
than four (4) weeks, (this includes periods in hospital, nursing home or
prison). This is so we know that you have not abandoned the property. If
your job means that you are often away from the property, or away for
long periods of time you should discuss this with us.
d) If the property has been abandoned by you we may take it back without
going to court.

3.5

Any council tenant neighbours are likely to have similar rights and
responsibilities as you do as a tenant. However this can sometime vary.

3.6

Changes to the conditions of your tenancy:
Under sections 102 and 103 of the Housing Act 1985 we may change the
terms of your tenancy agreement. Apart from changes in rent or service
charge we will always consult you before we make any change.

3.7

Substantial changes in our housing service to you:
We will consult you if there are any plans for these and give you 28 days
(4 weeks) notice in writing before any changes begin.
6
Page 16

7 April 2014

3.8

Your right to live in the property:
This agreement gives you the right, as a tenant, to live in the property unless
there is a legal reason for us to take it away from you and a court agrees. For
example:
•

You break any of the conditions in this agreement. If you do we will take
legal action to force you to meet the conditions, or ask the court for
permission to evict you;

•

You stop using the property as your only or principal home;

•

You have given false or fraudulent information to get the tenancy;

•

We need to carry out redevelopment or major repairs to the property
which we can’t do unless you move out;

•

There is another reason under the Housing Acts 1985 or 1996 or any
other law which allows us to take away your home.

3.9

If we decide to take possession action you will be served with the
appropriate legal notice:
•

The notice can be served on the property or on you in person.

•

A notice served on you due to antisocial behaviour can lead to
immediate issue of possession proceedings in court.

•

If a notice is served on you for any other reason, possession action in
court can begin 28 days (4 weeks) from that date.

3.10

If you breach any condition of this agreement we will charge you the
cost of:
•

Taking action against you through the courts;

•

Putting right any breaches of your tenancy agreement;

•

For any repairs or any other works to the property, communal area or
locality caused by that breach. This may be by way of a Maintenance
Recovery Charge.

3.11

You must pay any charges, including Rechargeable Repairs within the time
we set.

7
Page 17

7 April 2014

3.12

Sub-letting:
a) You must not sublet, even temporarily, the whole of the property. You
will immediately lose your secure tenancy and we will take action to
repossess the property.
b) You must not sublet, even temporarily, part of the property and then
the whole of the property. You will immediately lose your secure tenancy
and we will take action to repossess the property.
c) You must get written permission from us if you want to sub-let part of
the property.

3.13

From time to time the Council inspects properties it rents out. If requested by
the Council you must provide access, proof of your identity and details of
other members of the household living with you.

3.14

Assigning your tenancy:
You can only assign your tenancy in the following ways:
•

You are ordered to by the court;

•

To someone who would be able to succeed to the tenancy. You must get
our written permission before you assign your tenancy;

•

By carrying out a mutual exchange for which you must get our permission.

We can refuse an assignment or exchange but would not do so unreasonably.

Please note that Succession (passing on your tenancy on your death) is
not part of this agreement with you. For further information on
succession please contact the Tenancy Services team, contact details
can be found on page 32.

3.15

Ending your tenancy. – See Section 8 of this agreement – ‘Moving Out’.

8
Page 18

7 April 2014

4. Rent
4.1

Your rent at the start of your tenancy is shown on the front of this agreement.

4.2

When to pay your rent:
a) You must pay your rent weekly in advance, not in arrears.
b) Rent is due weekly.
c) We use a 52 week rent year.

4.3

Paying the Rent:
a) You must pay the rent due for the property on time. It is what we charge
you for living in the property.
b) You must pay any charges that form part of your rent on time. Examples
are heating charges, sheltered housing services or support service charges.
• You must pay these charges even if Housing Benefit pays the rest of your
rent or you are waiting for a claim to be processed.
• You must pay these charges from any Universal Credit payment you
receive.
• If for any reason you are not able to pay your rent or any charges that form
part of your rent you must let us know.
c) If you receive Housing Benefit or Universal Credit you must tell us
immediately of any changes which may affect your entitlement.
d) Any unpaid or delayed rent will be recorded as rent arrears.

4.4

Changes in the rent charged:
a) We will give you 28 days (4 weeks) written notice of any change to your
rent, including any changes or additions to the charges forming part of
your rent. This is called a “Notice of Variation”.
b) We can change the amount of your rent and any charges forming part of it
but we have to give you at least 28 days notice of this.
c) We can charge you for any service provided to the property that comes
within government and legal requirements for the calculation of rent. This
charge will form part of your rent.

9
Page 19

7 April 2014

4.5

Support and Management Services:
There are different levels of support and management service, depending on
where you live and what assistance is available.
•

Any support and management charge forms part of your rent;

•

If you live in sheltered accommodation you must accept and pay for the
cost of any support and management service that is provided, unless you
have an agreement to receive a different level of service.

4.6

If you are joint tenants:
a) Your liability for the rent:
•

You are all equally responsible for paying the whole of the rent due and
any rent arrears;

•

If rent arrears are owed we can take action to recover them from any one
of you or all of you.

b) If any joint tenant leaves:
•

The tenant who remains living in the property will be responsible for all
rent due for the property, including any rent arrears already owed.

•

If you are still named as a joint tenant you are liable for payment of rent
and rent arrears even if you have moved out.

•

If there are rent arrears on the property any action we take to recover
them will be in the names of all the joint tenants, unless there are
exceptional circumstances.

4.7

Rent Arrears Recovery:
a) Being in rent arrears means you are breaking the conditions of your
tenancy. The court can end your tenancy and we can repossess your
home by taking legal action to evict you.
b) If you are in rent arrears, we will deduct any money we owe you from the
arrears amount e.g. in cases where you are eligible to receive a transfer
payment.
c) If you apply for an accommodation transfer through us we may not allow
this while you have rent arrears.
d) We are unlikely to find you another permanent home if you are evicted for
rent arrears, even if you have children or other dependants.
10
Page 20

7 April 2014

e) If you leave a tenancy owing us rent arrears and apply for rehousing in the
future, your application will be given less priority or you may be excluded
from our housing list altogether.
4.8

Former Tenancy Arrears:
a) Any known rent arrears from a previous tenancy with us are shown on the
front of this agreement.
b) If you owe rent arrears from a previous tenancy, these must be repaid as a
condition of this tenancy. You may pay by instalments as agreed by us or
the court.

4.9

Ending your tenancy and moving out:
See Section 8 of this agreement – ‘Moving Out’.

11
Page 21

7 April 2014

5. Use of the property
5.1

Condition of the property:
a) You must keep the property:
•

In good condition, clean, tidy and decorated;

•

Free from anything likely to cause an obstacle to anyone, a fire risk, a
Health and Safety hazard or structural damage;

•

Free from rubbish which might attract pests or vermin.

b) You are responsible for decorating the inside of the property:
•

We may help with the cost of decorating materials which you must use
only for decorating the property.

c) You must not, or allow anyone to damage, dirty or graffiti the inside or
outside of the property or any provided fixtures and fittings or the
communal areas.
d) You must not tamper with, or allow anyone to tamper with, damage,
disable or graffiti any of the following at the property:
•

Heating and Hot Water appliances such as fires, boilers, hot water
cylinders and central heating system;

•

Door entry or emergency alarm equipment;

•

Smoke or heat detectors;

•

Gas, electricity or water supplies or meters.

e) Our responsibilities for the condition of the property are stated in Section
7 of this agreement – ‘Repairs and Improvements’.

5.2

Use of inflammable material, including gas cylinders or bottles:
a) You must not use or store any explosives or inflammable material or
substance in the property, communal areas, or sheds and storage areas in
blocks of flats.
b) On safety grounds you must tell us if you use oxygen cylinders and the
equipment must be prescribed by a doctor.

5.3

Condition of any communal areas in blocks of flats and maisonettes:
a) You must keep the communal areas clean and tidy and free from any
personal belongings, unless permitted. This includes communal gardens
and drying areas.
12
Page 22

7 April 2014

b) You must keep the communal areas, paths and fire exits free from
anything likely to cause an obstacle to anyone, a fire risk, a health and
safety hazard or structural damage.
c) You must not smoke in any communal hallways, corridors or lounges.
d) You must not tamper with, or permit anyone to tamper with, damage,
disable, dirty or graffiti anything of ours, including equipment in the
communal areas. This includes:
•

Door entry or emergency alarm equipment;

•

Doors, walls, fences and drying areas;

•

Lifts including the lift doors, machinery and control panels;

•

Fire extinguishers and smoke alarms;

•

Gas, electricity and water supplies or meters;

•

Glass in panels and windows;

•

Bins, sheds and storage areas.

e) The proper disposal of rubbish and unwanted items is covered in Clause
5.7 – ‘Getting rid of rubbish’.
f) Our responsibilities for the condition of the communal areas are stated in
Section 7 of this agreement – ‘Repairs and Improvements’.

5.4

Use of gardens, yards and balconies forming part of the property:
a) You must keep any gardens, yards and balconies:
•

Tidy with any hard surfaces kept clean;

•

Free from anything likely to cause an obstacle to anyone lawfully there or
likely to cause a fire risk, a Health and Safety hazard or structural damage
to your home or any neighbouring property;

•

Free from stored or accumulated rubbish, furniture, household appliances
or scrap metal.

If you fail to comply with the above conditions we will charge you to put right
any breach (see section 3.10 of this agreement)
b) Grass must be kept cut and any hedges trimmed so that they do not
encroach onto any neighbouring gardens or nearby public footpaths or
access areas.

13
Page 23

7 April 2014

c) You must not cause nuisance, annoyance, disturbance to your
neighbours or put your or their property at risk by lighting bonfires or by
burning non-domestic or hazardous materials.
d) You must get our permission in writing before you:
•

Build a garage, carport, conservatory or similar structure.

•

Put up a shed, fence or boundary wall or change or remove an existing
one.

•

Plant a hedge or a tree or remove an existing one.

•

Lay a driveway, hard-standing or paved parking area.

We will not unreasonably refuse you permission and you must also obtain
any necessary legal permissions such as Planning Permission and
Building Regulations approval before carrying out any works.
e) The boundary of the property is determined by us. Our decision is final in
the event of any dispute regarding our land or its boundaries.
f) You must keep any access paths to the property clear at all times.

5.5

Running a business, working or trading from the property:
a) You must get our permission before you or any other person begin
running a business, working or trading from the property. We will not
refuse permission unreasonably.
b) We will not allow the following businesses to be run or operated from the
property:
•

Repairing, re-spraying, valeting or trading in motor vehicles, boats,
trailers, caravans or similar structures;

•

Shops or wholesale businesses, including internet businesses where
customers would have to visit the property;

•

Any business or trade likely to cause nuisance or annoyance to other
people or cause damage to the property, our land or communal areas.

•

Any business or trade which involves using the property or locality for
any illegal or immoral purpose;

•

Any business or trade using controlled substances such as chemicals.

c) If we do give you permission to run a business you must also have and
maintain any necessary insurance, legal permissions and an appropriate
level of public liability insurance.
14
Page 24

7 April 2014

d) If any business, trade or work at the property breaches any conditions of
this agreement we will withdraw our permission. If we do this you must
stop running the business immediately.
e) You, or anyone for whom you are responsible as the tenant, must not run
a business, work or trade from:

5.6

•

Any communal areas in our blocks of flats or maisonettes;

•

Any of our garage blocks;

•

Any land in the locality of the property (e.g. parking or grassed areas).

Cars and other vehicles:
(including motor vehicles, caravans, boats and trailers or similar).
Parking:
a) At the property you must only park on a properly constructed hardstanding, driveway, paved parking area or in a garage. (Clause 5.4(d) of
this agreement covers their construction).
b) In the areas on our land where we allow parking, or at the property, you
must not park any vehicle which is:
•

A Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) over 3.5 tonnes;

•

A boat, trailer or horsebox;

•

A caravan;

•

A Motorhome, where this is not your only motor vehicle;

•

Without the required tax (including SORN);

•

In a wrecked, derelict, dangerous or un-roadworthy state.

c) You must not allow anyone to live in a vehicle either at the property or on
our land.
d) You must not keep any motor vehicle (e.g. motorcycle or moped) inside
the property, in any indoor communal area or in a shed or in blocks of flats
or maisonettes.
e) You must not park so that access is obstructed or blocked to:
•

Emergency services;

•

Refuse and recycling vehicles;

•

Other properties in your locality, including garages.

f) You must not park on any marked cross hatched area or move any
vehicle across any grassed areas or footpath nor allow anyone else to do
so.
15
Page 25

7 April 2014

g) In parking areas with marked bays you, or anyone for whom you are
responsible, must only park within those bays.
h) You, or anyone for whom you are responsible, must not park in our
disabled parking bays unless you are eligible to do so. You must not
obstruct or block users’ access to these bays or park obstructing a
dropped kerb access.
Repairs to vehicles:
a) You, or anyone for whom you are responsible, must not carry out any
repairs to vehicles at the property or on our land which may cause a
nuisance or annoyance to neighbours.
b) You, or anyone for whom you are responsible, may carry out occasional,
minor repairs to vehicles if:
•

It causes no nuisance, disturbance or risk to nearby residents;

•

You leave the area clean and tidy with no damage to our property or
land;

•

It does not pollute any drainage or sewage system or the local
environment (e.g. improper disposal of oil or paint);

•

The work is not part of a business trading or being operated from the
property, communal areas or land in the locality. (Clause 5.5 covers
the running of vehicle related businesses).

5.7

Getting rid of rubbish:
a) Any bins provided are only to be used for everyday household waste and
recycling. If you have furniture or other bulky items to dispose of you must
arrange proper disposal and not leave them in any bin storage area.
b) You must remove any bin after it has been emptied from any public
footpath or verge.
c) You must ensure that rubbish and unwanted items from your property are
disposed of in the proper way.
• You must not allow rubbish to build up in the property;
(Clause 5.1 covers the condition the property should be kept in).
• You must not improperly dispose of rubbish including household items
and/or motor vehicles on our land, communal areas or in the locality. If you
do we will charge you for their disposal.
16
Page 26

7 April 2014

d) In blocks of flats or maisonettes you:
• Must put your rubbish and unwanted items in the areas or containers
provided or arrange for their proper disposal elsewhere;
• Must ensure that any bins issued for your use are properly stored in the
designated area, and not where they will cause an obstruction to other
residents access to and from their property;
• Must not leave any rubbish or unwanted items in any communal areas not
meant for their storage or collection;
• Must not block access to fire exits or fire fighting equipment with rubbish
or unwanted items;
• Must not throw anything, or allow anything to fall from, any windows,
balconies or communal areas.
e) If any syringes or needles are used by yourself or anyone living in or
visiting the property you must ensure they are disposed of safely and that
needles are not left where our staff, contractors or any other person may
come into contact with them.
5.8

Dogs and other animals:
(“animals” includes pets)
a) You must not keep any animal which we feel is unsuitable at the
property; These include but are not limited to:
• Livestock such as pigs, goats, horses or similar;
• All venomous (poisonous) insects and spiders;
• All large, poisonous and constrictor snakes or lizards;
• Any animal listed in legislation as:
* A dangerous wild animal (e.g. Dangerous Wild Animal Act 1976).
* Wildlife that cannot be kept unless it is for scientific or conservation
purposes (e.g. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981).
* A species prohibited from trade, import or export (e.g. Endangered
Species (Import and Export) Act 1976).

If you are unsure whether an animal is suitable please ask us before you
keep it at the property.
Permission to keep an animal will be removed if you do not keep to the
following conditions:
17
Page 27

7 April 2014

Dogs:
b) This tenancy agreement states on the front page whether a dog can be
kept at the property.
c) If the property is stated as not suitable for a dog:
• You must not keep a dog at the property;
• You must not allow a dog onto the property or surrounding communal
areas.
d) Clauses 5.8 (b and c) do not apply to Registered Assistance Dogs (guide
dogs) but see (e) below.
e) If the property is stated as suitable for a dog, or you want a Registered
Assistance Dog in accordance with 5.8 (d) above you must still have
written permission from us before keeping such a dog.
• You will not be given permission to keep the specific types of dogs
restricted by law (e.g. Dangerous Dogs Act 1991) as being bred for fighting
or presenting a danger to the public.
f) Any written agreement by us allowing you to keep a dog is subject to you:
• Keeping the dog under proper control and on a lead;
• Complying with any legislation concerning the keeping and control of dogs;
• Not allowing fouling, excessive barking or other nuisance behaviour;
• Ensuring any garden, yard or balcony is properly fenced, secure and clean.
g) Birds:
You must have our permission before you keep the following at the
property:
• Pigeons or doves.
• Birds in an outdoor aviary or similar structure.
• Birds of prey.
h) If you or anyone living with you is banned by a court from keeping an
animal then you must not keep that type of animal at the property.
i) Wild animals:
You must not do anything to encourage wild (feral) pigeons, rats, mice or
grey squirrels onto the property, our land or the locality.
j) You must not keep more than 2 animals at the property without first
obtaining our written permission.
k) You must not breed animals at the property.
18
Page 28

7 April 2014

l) In cases of cruelty to animals, the council will withdraw its permission for
you to keep any animal/s and you must then remove any animals from
your home. The council will also report these cases to the RSPCA and/or
the Police.

6. Anti-Social Behaviour
6.1

You are responsible for the behaviour of friends, relatives, other people
(including children) and pets living in or visiting the property, communal areas
or locality.

6.2

You, your family, visitors, or people who live at the property must not behave
in an antisocial way or instruct others to do so. This means you must not and
must not allow others to:
a) Do anything which causes a nuisance, annoyance or disturbance to
anyone in the locality;
b) Do anything which interferes with the peace, comfort, safety or
convenience of anyone living in the locality;
c) Use the property, communal area or locality for any immoral or illegal
purpose or commit a criminal offence there;
d) Harass, verbally abuse, use violence or threaten to do so towards anyone
in the locality whether they are living, visiting or working there. This
includes doing this because of someone’s: age, disability, gender, national
origin, religion, religious beliefs, colour, ethnic origin, HIV status, race or
sexuality;
e) Psychologically, emotionally or sexually abuse anyone living in the
property or in the locality;
f) Use violence or threaten this to our staff, contractors or councillors;
g) Do anything which causes nuisance, annoyance, disturbance or
harassment to our staff, contractors or councillors.

6.3

You must not make false or malicious complaints to us about anyone.

6.4

We may take legal action to stop you, your family, visitors or people living at
the property behaving in an anti-social way. This includes taking legal action

19
Page 29

7 April 2014

to obtain an injunction, a demotion order, an anti-social behaviour order or to
evict you from the property.

6.5

We are unlikely to find you another permanent home if you are evicted
because of anti-social behaviour, even if you have children or
dependents.

6.6

If as a result of anti-social behaviour you are evicted, you may in the future be
excluded from reapplying for housing with us, or we may give your application
less priority.

6.7

Our responsibilities:
a) We will recognise your right to live in your home in the way you choose as
long as you, your family, visitors or people living at the property do not
break any conditions in this agreement.
b) We take anti-social behaviour very seriously and where appropriate we will
use the available legal powers to take action against you as the tenant
and/or those causing the problem. Before we can take any action we need
appropriate and sufficient evidence.
c) We will give you help and advice if you report anti-social behaviour.
d) We will tackle your complaints, keep you informed and take appropriate
action to deal with the problem.
e) We will refer complaints about antisocial behaviour to a mediation service
or to other agencies as appropriate.

Shown below are some examples of anti-social behaviour:
•

Harassment by:
♦ Using abusive, threatening or insulting words, behaviour or graffiti.
♦ Using or threatening violence against people or pets.
♦ Damaging, or threatening to damage, another person’s home or
possessions.
♦ Sending grossly offensive or threatening letters.
♦ Making nuisance phone calls.

•

Causing a nuisance, annoyance or disturbance by:
20
Page 30

7 April 2014

♦ Failing to control the behaviour of your children.
♦ Offensive drunkenness.
♦ Playing loud music or television.
♦ Loud arguing or shouting.
♦ Banging and slamming doors.
♦ D.I.Y work or using household appliances at unreasonable hours.
♦ Repeatedly playing ball games against someone else’s property or in a
communal area.
•

Using the property or the local area for:
♦ Prostitution.
♦ Selling, dealing, making, growing or storing illegal drugs.
♦ Illegal making, downloading, dealing, distributing or importing
pornographic or obscene material or computer images.
♦ Smuggling goods, materials, animals or people.
♦ Keeping or using an illegal or unauthorised firearm or offensive
weapon.
♦ Activities related to the incitement of racial hatred including storing or
displaying offensive items or materials.

•

‘Improper use of the Property’ by:
♦ Failing to keep the property in good condition.
♦ Not getting rid of rubbish and unwanted items in a proper way.
♦ Dog fouling or barking.
♦ Keeping unsuitable animals.
♦ Operating a vehicle repair or sale business from the property or
locality.
Please note that the examples of anti-social behaviour shown is not an
exhaustive list.

Shown below are some ways we can deal with anti-social behaviour:
•

Offer mediation services;

•

Ask a court to grant an injunction against those causing the problem;

•

Refer the problem to, or work with, other agencies such as Social
Services, Environmental Health Services or the Police. These agencies

21
Page 31

7 April 2014

can then use their own powers including prosecution, seizing of goods
and stereo/music equipment or tackling parenting issues;
•

Ask a court to take away someone’s tenancy, and evict, the tenant and
anyone else living at the property;

•

Ask a court to replace a secure tenancy with a demoted tenancy. This
will effectively remove the security of a tenant’s tenancy together with a
number of rights including the ‘Right to Buy’.

22
Page 32

7 April 2014

7. Repairs and Improvements:
Our responsibilities:
7.1

We will look after the property by keeping in repair and proper working order
the:
• Structure and exterior of the property including floors, walls, roof, windows,
drains and gutters;
• Outside decoration;
• Installations for supplying:
* Electricity, gas, water and sanitation including the toilet, bath and sink.
* Room heating and hot water. This includes an annual service of all gas
appliances installed and maintained by us and an inspection of the
electrical wiring every 5 years.

7.2

We will maintain the communal areas of blocks of flats and maisonettes to
ensure they are fit for use.

7.3

7.4

We will carry out reported repairs within a reasonable time period:
•

When you report a repair we will tell you when we will carry it out by;

•

We will decide on the nature of the repair to be carried out.

If the property needs to be empty for major building works, re-development or
demolition:
•

We have the right to take possession;

•

We must offer you a suitable alternative property before we take
possession;

•

If we only need you to move out temporarily you must return to the original
property on completion of the work – unless you have our written
permission to remain in the other property.

7.5

If you apply to buy the property:
•

We will continue to comply with the provisions of section 11 of the
Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 to maintain essential services and keep the
property wind and watertight only;

23
Page 33

7 April 2014

•

If you buy the property our repair responsibilities under this tenancy
agreement end.

Your responsibilities:
7.6

You must report any repairs that we are responsible for, as soon as possible.

7.7

You are responsible for the safe and legal installation, repair and
maintenance of your own household equipment (e.g. cooker and washing
machine). We will charge you if this equipment causes damage to your
property or any neighbouring property, requiring us to carry out repairs.

7.8

You are responsible for providing and replacing your household appliances,
furniture and personal belongings.

7.9

You must not apply textured coatings to the walls or ceilings including paints
or artex compound.

7.10

You are responsible for the safe repair and maintenance of any
improvements or alterations you have done at the property, unless we have
agreed in writing to do this ourselves.

7.11

Staff and contractors:
a) You must allow our staff and contractors to enter the property to carry out
inspections, repairs, servicing, replacement, improvement works and
works to remedy any breaches of this agreement.
b) We will give you reasonable notice that we need access. The notice
period will vary according to the urgency of the situation.
c) In emergencies our staff and contractors can:
•

Force entry to the property even if no-one is home at the time;

•

Enter the property without any notice if we feel there is a risk of personal
injury or damage to our, or neighbouring property;

•

Examples of these situations include:
* The property is in a dangerous structural condition;
* Gas leaks;
24
Page 34

7 April 2014

* Burst pipes or overflowing water damaging the property or neighbouring
properties.
d) You must give us access to service:
• Gas supplies and any gas appliances installed and maintained by us;
• Electricity supplies, wiring and outlets.
If you do not give us access we can force entry to the property to do this
work.
e) If you prevent us from entering the property we will charge you for the
cost of taking action to ensure we can get in and meet our legal
obligations as a landlord.

7.12

You must have our written permission before you carry out any additions,
improvements or alterations to the property, including the installation of a
satellite dish, an over bath shower, laminate or wood-block flooring.
•

If you do not we will charge you for the cost of reinstating the property.

•

If you fail to comply with any conditions we have set our permission will be
taken away.

•

You must obtain any other necessary approvals (e.g. planning permission
and appropriate public liability insurance) before you carry out any work.

7.13

We will charge you for, and you must pay for:
•

Any work to or at the property, neighbouring properties or communal areas
which is due to the misuse, neglect, negligence or deliberate damage by
you or anyone for whose behaviour you, as tenant, are responsible.

•

Any damage to the property (including but not limited to doors, window
glass or kitchen units) or removal from the property of anything belonging
to us, unless the police issue you with a crime number and the
damage/removal was not done by a person for whom you are responsible.

•

Any damage to, or anything of ours missing from, any council owned
shed/outhouse included in your tenancy, unless the police issue you with a
crime reference or incident number and the same damage/removal was
not done by a person for whom you are responsible.

7.14

If you are moving out see Section 8 of this agreement – ‘Moving Out’.
25
Page 35

7 April 2014

8. Moving Out
8.1

The conditions in this agreement apply up to and including the date your
tenancy ends.

8.2

Giving notice to end your tenancy: (This does not apply if we are evicting
you).
a) You must give us a minimum of 4 weeks written notice, ending at midday
on a Monday that you are moving out. This notice must be given to the
Tenancy Services Division, Department of Community, Fareham Borough
Council, Civic Offices, Civic Way, Fareham, PO16 7AZ.
b) The number of weeks notice given can be reduced where:
•

You have accepted a transfer through us for a move into a property which
is ready to move into;

8.3

•

We have asked you to move out to allow us to do major works;

•

Where the tenant has died.

Your rent when you end your tenancy and move out:
a) You must pay the rent up to the end of your notice period.
b) You must return your keys to us by that date. You will be charged a full
week’s rent, for each week until you return your keys (a rent week ends at
midday each following Monday).

8.4

Giving us vacant possession of the property:
•

When you move out you must give us vacant possession of the property.
This means not leaving anyone living there.

•

We will take court action to remove anyone left in the property and you will
be charged for the legal costs of this.

8.5

When you move out of the property you must:
a) Leave the property, including any garden, yard, shed or balcony and our
fixtures and fittings in good condition, clean, tidy and fit for use.
b) Leave the property in a reasonable state of decoration.
c) Return the keys for all the lockable doors and windows.
d) Ensure no animals are left at the property.
26
Page 36

7 April 2014

e) Remove all your belongings (including furniture and carpets) and any
rubbish. You can leave items specified in writing at the inspection of the
property prior to you moving out.
f) Dispose of any rubbish or unwanted items in the proper way (see Section
5.7 – ‘Getting Rid of Rubbish’).
g) Ensure all disconnections of gas, electricity, water supplies or household
appliances (e.g. cooker) are done safely, properly and meet legal
requirements.
h) Remove any alterations, improvements or additions to the property for
which:
•

We have not given permission;

•

You have not met the conditions of our approval;

•

We did not give you permission to leave behind;

•

That part of the property should also be returned to its original
condition.

i) If you do not do any of the above we will charge you for us doing it
instead. In exceptional circumstances we may agree not to charge you.

8.6

When your tenancy ends, you may be entitled to compensation for certain
improvements if you have made them with our permission. If you owe us
money, we will deduct any owed to us from the compensation.

8.7

We will not pay compensation if the tenancy has ended because you broke
any of the conditions in this agreement.

8.8

If you move out of or abandon the property any belongings left behind,
including personal effects and furniture, will be disposed of, stored or sold at
our discretion and in line with legal requirements.

27
Page 37

7 April 2014

9. Signing the Tenancy Agreement
NB - All tenants must sign below after reading this agreement.

• “The information I (we) gave in the housing application form was and still
is true.

•

I (we) agree to the conditions in this Tenancy Agreement.

•

I (we) have received a copy of the Tenant's Handbook.

Print name

Signature

1.

2.

Area Housing Estates Officer/
Sheltered Housing Officer

Print name

Signature

for and on behalf of Fareham Borough Council

Date

28
Page 38

7 April 2014

10.

Notes





































29
Page 39

7 April 2014






































30
Page 40

7 April 2014







































31
Page 41

7 April 2014

11.

Contact Details

Fareham Borough Council

 01329 236100
e-mail - customerservices@fareham.gov.uk

Tenancy Services

 01329 824435
e-mail - housing@fareham.gov.uk

Housing Options

 01329 824343
e-mail - customerservices@fareham.gov.uk

Benefits

 01329 824646
e-mail - benefits@fareham.gov.uk

Housing Repairs

 0800 1412194
e-mail: responsiverepairs@fareham.gov.uk

Citizens Advice Bureau

 08444 772232

Community Savers

 07511 900833
e-mail: fcs@sehco.org.uk

Gas Repairs

 0800 7812739

Gas Leak

 0800 111999

Water

 02392 477999 (Portsmouth) or 0845 2780845
(Southern)

Electricity

 0800 0727282

Hampshire County Council

 0845 6035630 (Adult Services)
 0845 6035620 (Childrens' Services)
 0845 6004555 (Occupational Therapy)
 0845 6035633 (Highways)

Police

 101 or 999 in the event of an emergency

FURTHER INFORMATION ON THIS AGREEMENT CAN BE OBTAINED FROM:
TENANCY SERVICES TEAM
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY
FAREHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
CIVIC OFFICES
CIVIC WAY
FAREHAM
PO16 7AZ

32
Page 42

7 April 2014

Agenda Item 8(2)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate
Objective:

Health & Housing
Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy 2014-17
Director of Community
Housing Strategy
A Balanced Housing Market

Purpose:
To seek approval for the adoption of a revised Homelessness and Housing Options
Strategy for the period 2014 – 2017.

Executive summary:
This report summarises the draft Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy
2014 -2017, which sets out the aims and objectives of the Housing Options Service
for the next three years, following a review of homelessness in the Borough.
The 2014 – 2017 Strategy will be the fourth produced by Fareham since it became a
statutory requirement under the Homelessness Act 2002.
The draft strategy was considered by the Health and Housing Policy Development
and Review Panel on 13 March 2014 and was recommended for approval and
adoption.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive approves the draft Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy
for Fareham 2014 -2017 and Action Plan, attached as Appendix A to the report.

Reason:
To enable the Council to deliver its objective of providing a sensitive and responsive
prevention based service which gives good quality advice, assistance and support
to people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness and, where
appropriate to secure good quality accommodation.

Page 43

Cost of proposals:
The proposals, including the appointment of the temporary post of Tenancy Support
Officer will be met from within existing budgets including the Department of
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) annual Homelessness Prevention
Grant.

Appendices: A: Draft Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy 2014 -2017

Background papers:

Page 44

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 07 April 2014
Subject: Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy 2014-17
Briefing by: Director of Community
Portfolio: Health & Housing
INTRODUCTION
1. All local housing authorities are required to have a Homelessness Strategy in place
which sets out how the authority intends to prevent and deal with homelessness within
its district. The strategy should be produced following a review of homelessness which
establishes the extent, causes and effects along with the views of stakeholders,
partners and service users.
2. The 2014 – 2017 Strategy will be the fourth produced by Fareham since it became a
statutory requirement under the Homelessness Act 2002. Annual reviews of the Action
Plans produced against each strategy are carried out and the actions updated
accordingly.
CHANGES SINCE 2010
3. The main changes which the new strategy needs to take into account can be
summarised as follows:
•

The Welfare Reform Act 2012 has introduced some major changes to the
welfare benefits systems, some of which have already impacted upon the ability
of the authority to secure accommodation in the private rented sector for
homeless households. Future reforms such as the introduction of Universal
Credit will impact further on the Council’s relationship with landlords.

•

The reform of homelessness and allocations legislation through the Localism Act
2011

•

Comprehensive Spending Review, funding received by local authorities has
been cut dramatically over the last 3 years and further public sector cuts can be
expected.

•

The ending of the Supporting People Programme and the impact this will have
on homelessness services.

•

Reductions in the number of new homes being built by developers and Housing
Page 45

Associations
•

The ending of the Mortgage Rescue Scheme in Spring 2014

•

The national launch of No Second Night Out – reducing Rough Sleeping

ACHIEVEMENTS SINCE 2010
4. Officers have prepared annual reports for members on the progress in achieving tasks
as set out in the Action Plan. Where tasks could not be achieved, the reasons why and
the subsequent actions which were being proposed were reported to members and the
Action Plan amended.
5. The main achievements since 2010 can be summarised as follows:
•

Successful bid to HCA Hostel Programme resulted in 2 additional rooms at 101
Gosport Road

•

Conducted a Rough Sleeper Count and agreed Severe Weather Protocol with
Two Saints and Gosport BC

•

Review of temporary accommodation undertaken resulting in new initiatives to
access the private rented sector being launched in 2014.

•

Money Adviser post extended to April 2015

•

Rough Sleepers Outreach Worker recruited Dec 2013.

•

Selling five mobile home units at Dibles Park used as temporary accommodation

•

Introduced a new database for the Supported Housing Panel

6. One of the key actions not achieved was to increase the number of prevention of
homeless cases by 10% by 2013. This is due in part to the increasing challenges to
access options to prevent homelessness and the way in which the team now deal with
approaches for housing assistance.
PRIORITIES FOR 2014 - 2017
7. The main priority will be to launch the new initiatives, aimed at increasing our access
to accommodation in the private rented sector. Combined with active management of
all households in temporary accommodation, it is hoped that placements in Bed and
Breakfast accommodation can be contained to emergencies only and for limited
periods of time.
8.

Other priorities can be summarised as follows:•

Prepare for the withdrawal/ reduction of Supporting People Funding

•

Following the creation of the Initiatives team, establish consistent and effective
management of all units of temporary accommodation to achieve move on
within agreed timescales.

•

Explore opportunities to continue funding for the Rough Sleepers Outreach
Worker
Page 46

•

Aim to achieve the Gold Standard 10 Local Challenges

CONSULTATION
9. The draft strategy has been prepared in consultation with a wide range of statutory
and independent agencies, through a Homelessness Event held in December 2013.
Members of the Strategic Housing Division have been actively involved in the
development of the strategy and assisted in determining the priorities within the Action
Plan.
10. The draft strategy was considered by the Health and Housing Policy Development and
Review Panel on 13 March 2014 and recommended for approval by the Executive.
RISK ASSESSMENT
11. The impact of Welfare Reform and the continuing economic climate has impacted
upon the Council’s ability to meet housing need through reducing access to
accommodation in the private rented sector. As a result there is a risk there could be
increased revenue expenditure and legal challenges if the Council fails to meet its
statutory obligations to homeless households.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
12. Many of the proposals in the strategy and Action Plan can be met from existing
budgets or the DCLG annual Homelessness Prevent Grant. The continuation of the
post of Tenancy Support Officer will be dependent upon the success of the new private
rented initiatives being launched in 2014 and the revenue they are able to generate.
CONCLUSION
13. Since the production of the previous strategy, there have been significant changes in
the local housing environment. The economic climate continues to have an impact
upon the financial situation of many households and the Council’s budgets. Measures
introduced through the Welfare Reform Act 2012 have affected the Council’s ability to
access accommodation in the private rented sector and with further changes planned
with the introduction of Universal Credit it is likely the Council will continue to face
challenges. This report highlights the current homelessness situation and the priorities
the Council intends to adopt in order to address these.

Reference Papers:
FBC Housing Strategy 2010-2015
FBC Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy 2010-2013

Page 47

Page 48

B

HOMELESSNESS AND HOUSING
OPTIONS STRATEGY
2014 – 2017

1
Page 49

CONTENTS
Page
Introduction

3

Key Features of the Borough

6

Demand, Issues and Outcomes

8

Best Practice in Homelessness Prevention

15

Consultation Events

16

Objective 1:

17

To provide advice, assistance and support to enable homeless
and vulnerable households to address their housing needs and
to lead independent lives

Objective 2:

20

Adopt sustainable initiatives that deliver housing solutions
accessible to those in housing need and minimise reliance
on the use of temporary accommodation

Objective 3:

23

Wherever possible to prevent homelessness from occurring
in Fareham by working in partnership with other statutory
and independent sector agencies

Objective 4:

26

Monitor the demand on the service and outcomes,
to inform future provision and direction

Monitoring and Evaluation

27

2
Page 50

INTRODUCTION
Fareham’s Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy sits below the overarching
Housing Strategy.
The Housing Strategy describes the local housing needs within Fareham and sets
out a series of priorities for meeting these needs. The priorities are based on an
overall aim from which stem a set of 8 objectives. The principal aim being:
•

To work in partnership with a range of agencies to give all of the
residents of Fareham the opportunity of a decent home that they can
afford.

Within the context of this aim, the objective relevant to the Homelessness and
Housing Options Service is:
•

Provide a sensitive and responsive prevention based service which
gives good quality advice, assistance and support to people who are
homeless or threatened with homelessness and, where appropriate, to
secure good quality accommodation;

To achieve this objective, the Homelessness and Housing Options Strategy has
been informed by a review of homelessness in the Borough. Consultation has taken
place with officers, local stakeholders, service users and partner organisations. The
Strategy takes into account key local, regional and national issues and priorities.
The new Strategy aims to consolidate the successes and measures of the 2010
Strategy and set out not only what is required to maintain the service, but further
develop it.
In order to do this, 4 key areas have been identified:
•

•

•
•

To provide advice, assistance and support to enable homeless and
vulnerable households to address their housing needs and to lead
independent lives;
Adopt sustainable initiatives that deliver housing solutions accessible to those
in housing need and that minimise reliance on the use of temporary
accommodation;
Wherever possible to prevent homelessness from occurring in Fareham by
working in partnership with other statutory and independent sector agencies;
Monitor the demand on the service and outcomes, to inform future provision
and direction.

Fareham Borough Council recognises that homelessness is a complex issue that
encompasses and impacts upon health, employment, education, offending, finance,
relationships and families and therefore in delivering this Strategy, the Council will
work in partnership with a number of external agencies.

3
Page 51

The Strategic Context
The main policies and themes that have emerged since the last Strategy that impact
upon homelessness and the work to prevent it are:

•

Reform of the Housing Revenue Account
-

•

Localism Act 2011 – Reform of homelessness and allocations legislation
-

•

the No Second Night Out campaign is intended to prevent someone
having to sleep rough for more than one night and thereby reduce the risk
of rough sleeping becoming an entrenched behaviour

Launch of Help to Buy Scheme 2013
-

•

to help with reductions in Housing Benefit following the removal of the
spare room subsidy, provide rent deposits or rent in advance to enable
households to move to smaller homes

Vision to end rough sleeping: No Second Night Out launched nationwide
-

•

introduced a number of changes to the welfare benefits system

Increase in Discretionary Housing Payment Budgets
-

•

introduced powers to set qualification criteria for the Housing Waiting List
and enables Councils to discharge accepted homelessness duties
through an offer of accommodation in the private rented sector

Welfare Reform Act 2012 – Reform of welfare benefits
-

•

in April 2012 the Housing Revenue Account subsidy system was ended,
enabling Councils to keep their rental income and use it to fund their
housing stock

created by the Government to help working people own their own home,
by offering 5% deposits

Mortgage Rescue Scheme
-

launched in 2008, to help home owners at risk of losing their home to
remain in occupation as tenants of a housing association

4
Page 52

•

Extension of the Support for Mortgage Interest Scheme
-

•

Comprehensive Spending Review
-

•

Affordable Rent is a model for setting social housing rents introduced in
2011, it requires rents to be set at up to a maximum of 80% of market rent.
Landlords are also able to offer flexible tenancies tailored to the housing
needs of individual households

The Affordable Homes Programme
-

•

a Government funded programme aimed at making sure people receive
the housing related support they need to live more independently,
reducing the need for people to move into residential settings

Introduction of Affordable Rent and Flexible Tenancies
-

•

launched in April 2013, to deliver and administer a framework for providing
continuous improvement in front line housing services through the
development and delivery of the Gold Standard Challenge

Ending of the Supporting People Programme
-

•

each year the Government announces how it will spend tax payers money
and continue its drive to reduce the gap on the national debt, the last few
years have seen significant reductions in public sector funding, impacting
upon the Council’s ability to deliver services

National Practitioner Support Service – Gold Standard
-

•

available to homeowners receiving certain income related benefits, help is
given towards the interest payments on mortgages and loans for certain
repairs and home improvements

the 2011 – 2015 programme introduced major changes, intended to try
and increase housing supply. It invited local authorities to bid for funding to
enable them to build housing again.

Use of Right to Buy (RTB) Receipts
-

In 2012 the Government introduced changes which allowed the Council to
enter into an agreement to retain a proportion of the capital receipt from
RTB sales to build new affordable homes or purchase existing homes. A
condition of the agreement requires the Council to make use of the capital
receipt within two years of its collection.

5
Page 53

KEY FEATURES OF THE BOROUGH
Population Age Profile
Age Group
All Ages
0-4
5-9
10 -14
15-19
20-24
25-29
30-34
35-39
40-44
45-49
50-54
55-59
60-64
65-69
70-74
75-79
80-84
85-89
90+

1991 Census
99,262
6,354
5,921
5,813
6,404
6,316
6,976
7,429
6,909
8,157
7,131
5,807
5,617
5,217
4,920
3,795
3,098
2,061
936
401

2001 Census
107,977
5,871
6,568
7,340
6,428
4,650
5,461
7,592
8,735
8,420
7,188
8,153
7,008
5,764
5,449
4,731
3,848
2,523
1,466
782

2011 Census
111,581
5,578
5,798
6,696
6,683
5,761
5,406
5,474
6,985
8,584
8,990
8,053
6,961
7,836
6,577
5,244
4,491
3,387
2,024
1,053

Average House Prices: April - June 2013
AREA

AV PRICE

Winchester

£388,295

Fareham

Hart

£332,846

East Hampshire

£324,324

Average house price
£231,292

New Forest

£289,417

Test Valley

£281,243

Detached

£313,602

Basingstoke and Deane

£258,528

Semi-detached

£209,192

Eastleigh

£232,214

Terrace

£196,351

Fareham

£231,292

Flat

£129,462

Havant

£219,428

Rushmoor

£211,406

Gosport

£176,422

Source: Land Registry

6
Page 54

Tenure Breakdown

Tenure
Percentage of households

60
50
40
30

2001
20

2011

10
0

Owned
outright

Owned with Shared
a mortgage ownership
or loan

Social
rented

Private
rented

Living rent
free

Source: 2011 Census

Ethnic Profile
Place
Hampshire
Basingstoke &
Deane
East Hampshire
Eastleigh
FAREHAM
Gosport
Hart
Havant
New Forest
Rushmoor
Test Valley
Winchester
Isle of Wight UA
Portsmouth UA
Southampton UA

% White
British
91.07
88.36

% Mixed
1.26
1.59

% Asian or
% Black or
%
Asian British Black British Chinese
2.09
0.97
0.62
2.57
1.41
0.98

92.05
90.81
92.56
93.25
89.36
93.13
92.80
86.72
91.71
90.64
91.73
84.47
81.75

1.16
1.32
0.99
1.12
1.43
1.12
1.19
1.54
1.23
1.32
1.07
1.47
2.24

1.70
2.81
2.06
1.50
2.52
1.63
1.36
3.29
1.76
2.12
1.85
4.86
6.38

Source: 2011 Census

7
Page 55

0.89
0.75
0.72
0.62
1.21
0.60
0.74
1.76
0.88
1.24
1.14
2.21
2.15

0.36
0.50
0.45
0.62
0.55
0.43
0.34
1.43
0.88
0.44
0.29
1.18
0.59

DEMAND, ISSUES AND OUTCOMES
A review of homelessness, the causes and outcomes has been carried out to
determine the Borough’s priorities for addressing homelessness and providing a
responsive and effective prevention service. The key findings are shown below.

Households accessing Fareham Borough Council’s Housing Options drop in
service.
The Housing Options Team operates a daily drop in service for anyone with a
housing enquiry. Customers are able to see a Housing Options Officer between
9.30am and 4.00pm to discuss their housing situation. An assessment of their
circumstances is undertaken to determine the level of advice and assistance
required. This may be assessing an application to join the Housing Waiting List,
signposting or referring to other organisations, contacting the client’s current housing
provider to establish the position and determine the level and nature of assistance
required to prevent a homeless situation from arising and / or taking a homelessness
application.

Number of approaches for housing advice
1400
1255
1185
1200

1109

Forecast

1011
1000
800
600
400
200
0
2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

The graph shows a decline in the number of households approaching the Council for
assistance over the last 3 years. However, the complexity of cases has increased
and the economic situation continues to impact upon the housing market and the
ability of many households to secure and retain accommodation on their own behalf
and therefore relying more on the Council’s assistance.

8
Page 56

9

Page 57
Illegal Eviction harrassment

Disrepair

Non housing related debt

Possession proceedings private

Help with deposits rent in advance

Possession proceedings social

Health issues

Fleeing violence

Possession proceedings mortgage

Other threats of violence

Mortgage Arrears

Domestic abuse

Rent arrears

Housing Benefit advice

NFA sleeping rough

Concerns over suitability

Security of tenure

NFA sofa surfing

Family eviction

Notice to Quit

Relationship breakdown

Seeking accommodation

General housing advice

Reasons for Approaching for Housing Assistance

Reasons for seeking advice
2012/2013

600

500

400

300

200

100

0

Reasons for seeking advice
2013 - Mid Feb 2014
450
400
350
300
250
200
150
100
50

General housing advice
Seeking Accommodation
Notice to Quit
Relationship breakdown
Family eviction
NFA sofa surfing
Security of tenure
NFA sleeping rough
Concerns over suitability
Domestic abuse
Rent arrears
Housing Benefit advice
Mortgage arrears
Health issues
Non housing related debt
Other threats of violence
Fleeing violence
Disrepair
Possession proceedings social
Possession proceedings private
Possession proceedings mortgage
Help with deposits rent in advance
Council tax
Illegal eviction

0

Whilst the above chart does not depict a full 12 months, the forecasted number of
approaches for 2013/14 is set to be in the region of 1011, approximately 100 less
enquires than 2012/13.
Even though there is not a full 12 months of data to compare, there are some
obvious differences. Most notably the numbers requesting assistance with finding
accommodation, those claiming to be of no fixed abode/sofa surfing and those under
the threat of possession proceedings due to mortgage arrears, have all fallen.
Reasons for approaching the service that have seen an increase are general
housing advice, non-housing related debt, domestic abuse and
disrepair/Environmental health issues.
The increase in the number of households seeking assistance due to non-housing
related debt is to be expected given the continuing economic climate. It would
appear that customer expectations are beginning to be influenced by the difficulties
in accessing any form of accommodation with the number of approaches specifically
seeking accommodation falling steeply; however, there is an increase in people
seeking general housing advice.

10
Page 58

Bed and Breakfast Placements
The urgency of some approaches for assistance and the increasing difficulty in
accessing accommodation in the private rented sector has contributed to the number
of households being placed in Bed and Breakfast Accommodation in the past 12
months. This has led to a major review of how we manage our stock of temporary
accommodation to ensure more units are available to avoid prolonged stays in Bed
and Breakfast Accommodation.

B&B placements 2012-13
Dec-March includes
SWEP* placements:
3 in Dec, 2 in Jan, 1 in
Feb, 4 in March

10
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
Apr

May

June

July

Aug

Sept

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

B&B placements Apr 2013 - Oct 2013
14

April includes 7 placements
from hotel fire and 1
SWEP* placement

12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Apr

May

June

July

*SWEP – Severe Weather Emergency Placement

11
Page 59

Aug

Sept

Oct

Demand for Temporary Accommodation
The table below shows the average number of households housed in temporary
accommodation at any one time. This demonstrates the steady rise in the number of
households needing the assistance of the Council.

Households in temporary accommodation
120
108
101
100
81
80

60

40

20

0
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

Average length of stay in temporary accommodation
Until the creation of the new Initiatives Team the management of temporary
accommodation (TA) had not been a priority for the Housing Options Team. With
increasing pressure being placed on TA, it became essential to increase movement
through it and apply consistent move on times for each type of accommodation. The
new Initiatives Team is tasked with monitoring and managing moves in and out of all
units of TA and combined with a change in the Allocations Policy (which gives a
greater priority to those in TA), the average waiting time for a move out of TA has
been reduced from 2.6 years to 1.6 years.

12
Page 60

Households on Fareham Borough Council’s Housing Waiting List
Following the introduction of the Localism Act 2011, the Allocations Policy was
reviewed and stricter local connection and qualification criteria introduced. The
Policy has since been subject to a further review resulting in the proposal to remove
the NO Housing Need Band. This is being proposed to rationalise the administration
associated with the Housing Waiting List and to prevent raising the expectations of
households that have little or no prospect of being housed. Prior to the review there
were 2600 households registered on the Housing Waiting List.

Housing Waiting List - number of households in
each band
800
700
600

713

Total number of applicants
- 1452
(as at 26 November 2013)

500

436

400
257

300
200
100

39

7

0
Urgent Band

High Band

Medium

Low

No Hsg Need

Housing Waiting List applicants - size required
3%

13%

16%

39%

29%

bedsit
one bed
two bed
three bed
four bed

1 bedroom properties remain the most highly demanded accommodation.
13
Page 61

Households assisted through the Mortgage Rescue Scheme
The Mortgage Rescue Scheme was launched by the Government in 2008 and
initially had a slow start in Fareham as the criteria for households to be accepted
onto the scheme was high. In the last couple of years the qualifying thresholds have
been reduced and Fareham has successfully referred a higher number of cases,
compared to authorities of a similar size. The scheme however is being withdrawn in
March 2014.

Mortgage Rescue Scheme - completions by
area over last 3 years
25
20
15

2011

10

2012
5

2013 (Apr-Oct)

0

Affordable Housing Development
The number of new affordable homes being built to meet the demand from the
Housing Waiting List is set to fall over the next couple of years. This in turn impacts
upon waiting times and movement through temporary accommodation.
80

Affordable home completions

70
60
50
40

Forecasting 38
completions

30
20
10
0
2011-12

2012-13

14
Page 62

2013-to date

BEST PRACTICE IN HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION
National Practitioner Support – Gold Standard Challenge
The National Practitioner Support Service (NPSS) was set up in April 2013
specifically to support local authorities to deliver early intervention and prevention
housing options services.
They developed a 10 step continuous improvement approach that starts with a
pledge for local authorities to ‘strive for continuous improvement in front line housing
services’ and culminates in an application for the Gold Standard Challenge.
The Gold Standard Challenge is a peer review scheme designed to help local
authorities to deliver more efficient and cost effective homelessness prevention
services.
The Gold Standard is based on ten local challenges:
1. To adopt a corporate commitment to prevent homelessness which has buy in
across all local authority services
2. To actively work in partnership with voluntary sector and other local partners
to address support, education, employment and training needs
3. To offer a Housing Options prevention service to all clients including written
advice
4. To adopt a No Second Night Out model or an effective local alternative
5. To have housing pathways agreed or in development with each key partner
and client group that include appropriate accommodation and support
6. To develop a suitable private rented sector offer for all client groups, including
advice and support to both client and landlord
7. To actively engage in preventing mortgage repossessions including through
the Mortgage Rescue Scheme
8. To have a homelessness strategy which sets out a proactive approach to
preventing homelessness and is reviewed annually to be responsive to
emerging needs
9. Not to place any young person aged 16 or 17 in Bed and Breakfast
accommodation
10. To not place any families in Bed and Breakfast accommodation unless in an
emergency and for no longer than 6 weeks

It is not proposed to seek the accreditation of the Gold Standard, however, the 10
local challenges will be incorporated within the objectives of the service and help
inform our key actions.

15
Page 63

CONSULTATION EVENTS
Homelessness and Housing Options Event
An event was held in December 2013, to which all organisations involved with
housing options and homelessness in the borough were invited. The morning aimed
to reflect upon the way in which the Council and its partners responded to the
challenges presented by those in housing need. Through discussion groups a series
of issues were raised and views sought as to how best these could be met.
The event was well attended and useful debates took place around the most
pressing issues facing homelessness services. Through the discussion groups, the
areas of youth homelessness, welfare reform, accessing the private rented sector
and rough sleeping were considered in more depth and the groups were asked to
put forward their ideas as to how these groups and issues could be assisted and
taken forward.
Strategic Housing Away Day
Following the above event, Officers within the Strategic Housing Division held an
away day to review the previous year’s highs and lows, achievements and areas for
improvement and to look at the priorities for the division for the forthcoming year.
Officers within the Housing Options Team reflected upon the discussions held at the
Homelessness Event and the changes that had been introduced in response to
legislation and the need to respond to the increasing demand for temporary
accommodation.

Customer Feedback
A second mystery shopping exercise was carried out in April 2011. The service had
come a long way in the two years following the first exercise carried out by Shelter.
Weaknesses identified such as not seeking enough details to be able to give advice
over the phone had been addressed, with officers now logging details of calls and
making entries on the Housing Options Database as to the advice given and the next
steps to be taken. The quality of advice given had also improved with explanations of
options and legislation being offered where appropriate.
Since this exercise, formal customer feedback has not been sought; however, there
are plans to introduce regular customer surveys of the housing options drop in
service which can be accessed online as well as via the more traditional methods.
These surveys will seek feedback over the interview process and the quality of
advice given.
In addition the service will be subject to the systems thinking approach being
introduced throughout the Council. This will hopefully highlight where processes and
procedures can be reduced to enhance the service offered and provide for a better
customer service.

16
Page 64

OBJECTIVE 1: To provide advice, assistance and support to enable homeless
and vulnerable households to address their housing needs and to lead
independent lives.

This objective is delivered by the Housing Options Team consisting of 6 Housing
Options Officers (HOOs), available on a daily basis to provide advice and assistance
to anyone in housing need.
The advice given is tailored to the person and their individual or household’s needs.
The HOOs provide information to equip people with the knowledge and tools to help
themselves and make informed decisions about the options available to them.
In order to deliver a comprehensive service which meets the needs of our
customers, it is essential for the HOOs to remain up to date and skilled in all aspects
of housing options. The 6 HOOs are supported by a Senior Housing Options Officer,
responsible for monitoring individual officer performance, disseminating best
practice, identifying gaps and weaknesses in skills and knowledge bases and
ensuring appropriate training or job-shadowing opportunities are accessed.

Information, initiatives and options available to households in housing need

•

Website

The Housing Options Team maintains pages on the Council’s website, which enable
households seeking housing advice to access information relevant to their particular
circumstances. A self-help tool, factsheets, and links to other websites and
organisations are all available to help households resolve their housing situation.
•

Fareham Supporting Families Programme

The Troubled Families Programme was launched by the Prime Minister in 2011; the
Government is committed to working with local authorities to help 120,000 troubled
families in England turn their lives around by 2015.
Fareham has established a Supporting Families Programme led by the Community
Safety Team. Households approaching the Housing Options Team that meet the
criteria of the programme can be referred, it is hoped that such intervention and
support will assist households to remain in their accommodation

•

MARAC ( Multi Agency Risk Assessment Committee)

These are Police led multi agency meetings held once a month. The meetings serve
as a forum where key agencies, including the Police, Housing, Fareham & Gosport
Family Aid and Social Services discuss and identify co-ordinated multi agency
17
Page 65

responses to households who are suffering from domestic abuse. A whole range of
options can be considered before it is necessary for someone to move home.
•

Protocol over social housing evictions

All housing associations with stock in the borough are required to sign up to a
Partnership Agreement. This sets out the roles and responsibilities of each
organisation in respect of their development, management and allocation of
affordable housing. Included in the agreement are the expectations over joint
working in respect of tenants facing eviction due to rent arrears. Early notification of
a potential eviction enables a HOO to engage with the tenant and potentially avoid a
homelessness situation from arising.
•

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP)

This scheme enables local authorities to provide additional financial assistance to
existing Housing Benefit or Council Tax customers to help meet housing costs. The
fund can also be used to provide rent deposits and rent in advance in certain
circumstances. Housing Options Officers work closely with colleagues in Housing
Benefits to ensure DHP is used effectively to prevent homelessness or secure
alternative accommodation.
•

Tenancy Rescue Fund

The tenancy rescue fund (funded out of the Homelessness Prevention Grant from
Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG)) can be used to prevent
homelessness in the private rented sector. Examples of its use are: paying for
damages caused by a third party, irregularities with Housing Benefit, or rent arrears
caused by an ignorance of being able to claim benefits.
•

Repossession Prevention Fund

At the start of the economic downturn the DCLG gave a one off grant to every local
authority to issues as loans up to the value of £5,000 to assist households with
mortgage or rent arrears. Fareham Borough Council received £38,000 and there are
still funds available to help prevent homelessness.
•

Local Welfare Assistance

In April 2013 the County Council awarded each of the districts housing departments
£10,000 to use to assist those in housing crisis. The fund is not to be used to pay for
things such as rent deposits or rent arrears as there are already budgets in place for
these types of issues, but it can be used to help with the cost of removals for
example or to bridge a gap in income to enable someone to remain in
accommodation or secure it. Unfortunately, this fund will not be made available
again, however, if it can be demonstrated that for relatively small awards,
placements in Bed and Breakfast have been avoided or moves out of temporary
accommodation are achieved, the Council may need to consider setting aside a
small percentage of its Homelessness Prevention Grant to continue to assist in these
circumstances.
18
Page 66

•

Housing Waiting List

For the majority of households approaching the Council in housing need, it is
appropriate to establish if they are registered or eligible to apply to the Housing
Waiting List. The HOO will be able to determine whether they have a realistic chance
of being offered accommodation in the near future via the Housing Waiting List, or if
they need to consider and explore other housing options.

Action
Senior Housing Options Officer to
ensure the best use is made of all
available funds including DHP in
the prevention of homelessness
and the securing of alternative
accommodation

Intended Outcome
To limit the number of households
becoming homeless

1b

Review training needs on a regular
basis of all Housing Options
Officers, to maintain knowledge
and skills and to keep up to date
with changes in case law and best
practice

Ensure customers receive a
comprehensive advice service.
Through which they are made
aware of all their options and other
agencies able to give support and
assistance

1c

Review the Housing options
website, factsheets and housing
options plans

Information is user friendly, current
and accessible

1d

Strive to achieve Gold Standard
local challenges relevant to this
objective

Provide an enhanced housing
options service

1a

19
Page 67

OBJECTIVE 2: Adopt sustainable initiatives that deliver housing solutions
accessible to those in housing need and that minimise reliance on the use of
temporary accommodation.

The changes introduced under the Welfare Reform Act have impacted upon the
Council’s ability to access the private rented sector to meet the needs of homeless
households. With the number of new build properties enabled falling over the last
couple of years, the focus has to be on overcoming the barriers to access the private
rented sector, if sufficient accommodation options are going to remain available to
meet the growing demand.

Housing solutions and support available to households in housing need

•

New Initiatives Team

In 2013 the Housing Options team restructured to create a new Initiatives Team, the
team have 3 main functions:- Managing temporary accommodation, allocating
council and housing association accommodation and developing new private rented
initiatives.
o Managing temporary accommodation
To ensure temporary accommodation is used to its maximum potential, the Initiatives
Team is responsible for creating move on plans for households as soon as they are
allocated a unit of temporary accommodation. A maximum length of stay has been
determined for each type of temporary accommodation, with the aim of achieving
higher throughput and reducing the number of households placed in bed and
breakfast accommodation.
o Launch of new private rented sector initiatives
Three new schemes will be launched in 2014 to attract and encourage landlords to
work with the Council. Each of the schemes will hopefully be attractive in their own
right, as they range from a basic tenant finder scheme, to a full property
management service. With the introduction of the Localism Act 2011 it is anticipated
that more households will be accepted as homeless with the aim of discharging the
rehousing duty into the private rented sector. Whilst most families seek to gain the
security of a council or housing association property, the fall in the number of
properties being developed means that long term housing solutions are now
considered to be 12 months or more in the private rented sector.

20
Page 68

o Allocating council and housing association accommodation
For some households in temporary accommodation their move on plan will include
being registered on the Housing Waiting List for an offer of Council or housing
association accommodation. The Allocations Officer is part of the new Initiatives
Team and is able to advise as to the position and prospects of such households and
help inform move on plans.
o Tenancy Support Officer ( temporary 12 month appointment )
To be able to help and support households to move on from temporary
accommodation and to increase access to the private rented sector, it will be
necessary for the Accommodation Officer to devote the majority of her time to
developing and building relationships with landlords and letting agents. To release
her to do this, the work she undertakes to support tenants and resolving tenancy
management issues will be taken over by a new post of Tenancy Support Officer.
To coincide with the launch of the new private rented initiatives, this will be a
temporary 12 month appointment, funded from the Homelessness Prevention Grant.
Extension of the post will be dependent upon the success and take up of the new
private rented schemes.
•

Purchasing new Temporary Accommodation

Changes have been introduced to enable the Council to use Right to Buy (RTB)
receipts of £800k. This is expected to achieve the acquisition of 8 properties for use
as temporary accommodation. Delegated power has been granted to enable a rolling
programme of acquisitions to take place in future within the available budget.
•

Mortgage Rescue Scheme (MRS)

The MRS scheme was launched by the Government in 2008, to help owner
occupiers facing repossession the ability to remain in their home and become a
tenant of a housing association. Households assisted under this scheme have to
meet certain criteria and the Money Adviser role has been crucial to the assessment
of affordability post rescue, as there is little point in investing large sums of money to
rescue the property if it remains unaffordable in the long term.
Whilst numbers assisted under this scheme have been relatively small, it has
nevertheless meant that fewer units of temporary accommodation have had to be
found and the closure of the scheme in March 2014 will mean more households will
be seeking the assistance of the local authority and possibly requiring temporary
accommodation.

•

Affordable Housing Programme

One of the key factors which has an impact on homelessness and the demand for
temporary accommodation is the shortage of affordable housing in the Borough.
With a higher than national average level of owner occupation and a lower than
average social housing stock, the Council has continued to set ambitious targets for

21
Page 69

the number of new affordable homes delivered per year. The economic conditions
however, continue to impact upon the programme and its delivery.

Action
Achieve move on from TA within
agreed timeframes for 70% of
households in year 1, 2014/2015,
increasing to 90% in year 2,
2015/2016

Intended Outcome
Increase capacity of existing TA,
resulting in fewer placements in
Bed and Breakfast
Accommodation

2b

Monitor the success and impact of
the Tenancy Support Worker, prior to
12 month period coming to an end, to
determine whether to extend the post

2c

Launch new private rented initiatives
in 2014 with the target of taking on
45 properties within the first 12
months of operation

Accommodation Officer released
to secure more accommodation in
the private rented sector.
Rent arrears reduced in TA
Better management and
intervention around cases of AntiSocial Behaviour
Meet the future demand for
temporary accommodation and
minimise the use of bed and
breakfast accommodation

2d

Purchase 8 existing properties using
RTB receipts

Increase available stock of
temporary accommodation

2e

Work with Housing Associations to
develop new affordable housing in
the borough

Increase range of affordable
housing to meet housing need in
the borough

2f

Strive to achieve Gold Standard local
challenges relevant to this objective

Provide an enhanced housing
options service

2a

22
Page 70

OBJECTIVE 3: Wherever possible to prevent homelessness from occurring in
Fareham by working in partnership with other statutory and independent
sector agencies.

Some homeless situations can be prevented through the actions and interventions of
other agencies. The Housing Options Team seeks to maintain and develop these
relationships, and wherever possible support such agencies by offering additional
funding, use of office space, assisting with joint visits and the sharing of information.

Partnerships and services supported by the Housing Options Team

•

Money Advice Worker

In response to the economic crisis and in order to assist with applications to the
Mortgage Rescue Scheme the Council decided to use £20,000 per year of its
Homelessness Prevention Grant to fund a part time Money Adviser. The post based
at Fareham Citizens Advice Bureau was recruited to in September 2009 and has
proved invaluable in assisting households to remain in their accommodation.
Housing Options Officers refer households to the Money Adviser where debt or poor
money management can be identified as the threat of homelessness. The Money
Adviser will endeavour to prevent homelessness from occurring by drawing up
financial statements, attending court, exploring formal money management options
such as IVA’s, Bankruptcy, Debt Relief Orders, helping with Benefit claims,
negotiating with creditors, lenders and landlords.
Funding for this post has been agreed up until April 2015, it is hoped to be able to
continue and possibly extend the hours of this post for the life of this strategy.
•

Rough Sleepers Outreach Worker

As part of the national roll out of No Second Night Out, Fareham Borough Council in
conjunction with Gosport Borough Council, Havant Borough Council and Two Saints
Housing Association, successfully bid to recruit a full time Rough Sleepers Outreach
Worker. Working out of 101 Gosport Road (direct access hostel), the Outreach
Worker is funded to engage with rough sleepers across the 3 boroughs. As many
rough sleepers have additional vulnerabilities such as drug or alcohol issues or debt
problems, the Outreach Worker ensures that referrals are made to the appropriate
support agencies, so that work can be started to address the issues surrounding
long term rough sleeping. The Outreach Worker also engages with landlords in the
private sector to assist rough sleepers into accommodation where possible.

23
Page 71

•

Credit Unions

Offering a service to those applicants unable to gain a bank account, credit unions
can assist with the budgeting process to help reduce and prioritise debts. The
Hampshire Credit Union trading as United Savings and Loans can offer rent deposits
and loans at a far lower interest rate than the doorstep lenders, helping to prevent
rent arrears and potential homelessness. United Savings and Loans hold “drop in”
surgeries at the Council Offices and other venues within the Borough, enabling
people to discuss their situations and establish whether they could benefit from
joining.
•

Accommodation Resource Centre

The Accommodation Resource Centre (ARC) run by Two Saints Housing
Association acts as the gateway agency for young homeless people aged between
16 and 25 in Fareham and Gosport. Funded primarily by Hampshire County Council
Supporting People Programme (which is currently under review) the centre provides
housing advice and assistance to young people, often acting as mediators, their key
aim is to enable young people to return home or access suitable accommodation.
Hampshire County Council Children’s Services also fund ARC to undertake their
initial assessments. Following the Southwark ruling the County worked with the 11
district authorities to agree a working protocol for 16 /17 year olds. This protocol
delivers a coordinated approach to meeting the housing and welfare needs of young
people.
•

Supported Housing Panel

The Supported Housing Panel was originally established in 2006, it sought to
achieve a consistent, fair and managed approach to all supported accommodation in
Fareham and Gosport (excluding the direct access hostel, the women’s refuges and
sheltered accommodation). The two districts and providers have engaged with the
panel process over the years and through Gosport Borough Council commissioned a
database to manage referrals and waiting lists for each of the supported housing
schemes. It was hoped that the on-going management of the database would be
taken over by the Fareham and Gosport Supporting People Housing Co-ordinator,
however, this post has been in a state of flux ever since it was introduced and
following recent announcements by Hampshire County Council over the ending of
the Supporting People Programme, it is now uncertain how the panel process will be
managed in future. Even more concerning is the future of a number of supported
housing schemes across the two boroughs, as funding has been significantly
reduced, the long term viability of some, could be in jeopardy.
•

Floating Support

Currently commissioned through the Supporting People Programme there is a
generic short term floating support service and a specialist mental health floating
support service operating across Fareham and Gosport. Housing Options Officers
are able to refer households to these services who are in need of support to enable
them to maintain their accommodation and avoid becoming homeless. The future of

24
Page 72

these services is in question following the announcement of the withdrawal of the
Supporting People Programme.

3a

Action
Continue to monitor the success and
outcomes of the Money Advice
Worker and determine whether
funding is available to extend the
post for the life of this Strategy

3b

Monitor the success of the Rough
Sleepers Outreach Worker and
determine whether funding can be
extended beyond the 12 months
funded by the Regional Rough
Sleepers Group

3c

In partnership with Children’s
Services agree the future role of the
Accommodation Resource Centre
following the reduction in Supporting
People funding

3d

Prepare for the impact the reduction
in the Supporting People
Programme will have on
homelessness services across the
borough through the reconfiguration
of services and the targeting of
remaining funds to meet statutory
duties

3e

Strive to achieve Gold Standard
local challenges relevant to this
objective

25
Page 73

Intended Outcome
Number of evictions due to rent or
mortgage arrears reduced.
Homelessness is prevented as a
result of better money
management, budgeting and
awareness of benefit entitlement
Reduction in the number of rough
sleepers in the borough.
Quick engagement to prevent
entrenched rough sleeping
Co-ordinated response to rough
sleeping with Police, Community
Safety & Substance Misuse
Agencies
Maintain the gateway agency to
ensure 16/17 year olds are given
independent advice as to their
future accommodation options.
Prevent homelessness through
mediation and support
Maintenance of as many
homelessness prevention services
as possible

Provide an enhanced housing
options service

OBJECTIVE 4: Monitor the demand on the service and outcomes, to inform
future provision and direction

To ensure that resources and new initiatives are directed appropriately, it is essential
that the demand on the service is captured and analysed. Whilst improvements have
been made to the reporting functionality on the Housing Options Database, there is
still some concern that it is a standalone database that is not linked to any other
systems in use. Therefore, investigations into other housing options modules will
continue to be made.
The success of the new private rented schemes will be closely monitored. A
business plan will be drawn up, setting out the expectations for each scheme, with
forecasts for income and potential losses.
In May 2013 the Allocations Policy was reviewed to recognise the changes brought
in through the Localism Act 2011. Early indications are that the changes introduced
have had a positive effect on the movement of households through temporary
accommodation, reducing average waiting times by a year. However, close scrutiny
will need to be carried out over the next 12 months to ensure that the lowering of
priority on the Housing Waiting List for households living with family does not
incentivise approaching the Council and applying as homeless.

Action
Continue to explore purchasing the
Housing Options module from
Orchard

Intended Outcome
Improved data capture, and
monitoring information to inform
future plans and Strategies

4b

Produce a Business Plan for the
new private rented sector schemes
prior to their launch

4c

Continue to monitor the impact the
new Allocations Policy has on
homelessness and movement
through Temporary Accommodation

To be able to monitor the success
of the new schemes and support
the case for continuing with the
posts of: Temporary
Accommodation Co-Ordinator and
Tenancy Support Officer
Increased movement through
temporary accommodation.

4d

Strive to achieve Gold Standard
local challenges relevant to this
objective

4a

26
Page 74

Provide an enhanced housing
options service

MONITORING AND EVALUATION
We are committed to ensuring this strategy remains a live document and delivers
tangible results for those in housing need in the borough. To ensure that this
happens, the Action Plan will be reviewed as part of regular objective monitoring for
individual officers within the Strategic Housing Division.
Responsibility for ensuring that this strategy delivers key objectives lies with the
Council’s Housing Options Manager, who will ensure that the Action Plan is updated
on an annual basis with a progress report submitted to the Health and Housing
Policy Development and Review Panel for scrutiny by Members.
Key performance indicators which reflect a number of the strategy’s objectives are
reported on a monthly basis to senior managers. Managers within the Strategic
Housing Division meet regularly with partner agencies, to review progress against
targets and changes required to continue to meet housing need in the borough.

27
Page 75

Page 76

Agenda Item 8(3)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate
Objective:

Health and Housing
Proposed Affordable Housing Programme 2015 - 2018
Director of Community
Housing Strategy
A balanced housing market

Purpose:
This report outlines proposals to build three new affordable housing schemes and
seeks approval for project funding.

Executive summary:
This Council has a corporate objective to enable the delivery of 500 new affordable
homes by 2017.
Approval is sought to set appropriate budgets for the construction of 3 new
affordable housing schemes in the borough that collectively will deliver 58 new
affordable homes.
In January 2014 the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) announced the
bidding criteria for the new Affordable Homes Programme to support the delivery of
new affordable homes up to 2018. The deadline for applications is 30th April 2014.
Approval is also being sought to apply for funding from the HCA to support these
schemes.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive:
a) approves a budget of £5.5 million to fund the development of a new 36 unit
sheltered housing scheme at Coldeast, Park Gate;
b) approves a budget of £854,000 to fund the development of 6 energy efficient
‘Passivhaus’ homes at Coldeast Close, Sarisbury;
c) approves a revised budget of £1,850,000 to fund the development of 16 x 1
bedroom flats at Palmerston Avenue; and
d) authorises the Director of Community to submit a bid for grant funding to the
HCA via the Wayfarer consortium to help fund the development of new
affordable homes to be built between 2015 and 2018.

Page 77

Reason:
To enable new affordable homes to be built that meet local housing needs and
contribute to the Council’s corporate objective to deliver 500 new affordable homes
by 2017.

Cost of proposals:
The combined cost of building the three schemes will be £8,204,000. Subject to any
grant funding secured from the HCA this will be funded from the Council’s Housing
Revenue Account.

Appendices:

A: Site location of Palmerston Avenue and architects impression of
proposed flats at Palmerston Avenue.
B: Site location of Coldeast sheltered housing scheme and architects
impression of proposed sheltered housing scheme.
C: Site location of Coldeast Close and architects impression of
proposed ‘Passivhaus’ scheme at Coldeast Close.

Background papers: Report to the Executive on 10th June 2013 – Development of
land at Palmerston Avenue ( Ref: Xho-130610-r05-afi)

Page 78

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 07 April 2014
Subject: Proposed Affordable Housing Programme 2015 - 2018

Briefing by: Director of Community
Portfolio: Health and Housing
INTRODUCTION
1.

The Council has a corporate objective to enable the provision of 500 new affordable
homes by 2017. In addition to enabling new housing through planning policy and
working in partnership with local Registered Providers, the Council has also started
to build new homes to increase and renew its existing housing stock. Over the past
two years 5 general purpose homes have been completed and a new 40 unit
scheme for older people is due for completion in early 2015.

2.

Proposals have been drawn up for three new affordable housing schemes, which
collectively will provide 58 new homes for rent, catering for a range of housing need.

3.

The majority of funding required to build the new homes will need to be met from
the Council’s Housing Revenue Account. However, the Homes and Communities
Agency has recently announced a new Affordable Homes Programme to help fund
development between 2015 and 2018. The Council is eligible to apply for funding
but must be committed to developing all schemes that are included in any bid. If
approved, it is proposed that the bid will be made through the Wayfarer Partnership
– a consortium of local housing providers which the Council joined in 2013. The
deadline for applying for funding is 30th April 2014.

4.

This report provides details of the three housing schemes to be included in the
proposed bid. These are schemes for which detailed proposals have been
prepared. The HCA are also inviting bids for ‘indicative’ schemes (i.e. those where
proposals are still being worked on). Details of the Council’s indicative schemes are
set out in a separate report. The firm schemes will form the bulk of the Council’s
housing programme up to 2018. .

THE PROPOSED PROGRAMME
5.

The Council has prepared detailed proposals for three separate housing schemes.
Planning permission is in the process of being secured. If built the developments
would achieve a net gain of 58 new Council owned affordable homes for rent.

Contact: Name, Title
E-mail – EMail (Tel: 01329 Tel)

FileName

Page 79

6.

The three schemes are:
•

Palmerston Avenue – 16 x 1 bedroom flats in central Fareham

•

Coldeast Close – 6 highly energy efficient family homes in Sarisbury

•

Coldeast Sheltered Scheme – 36 older person’s flats in Park Gate

PALMERSTON AVENUE
7.

The Council owns a small parcel of land adjoining the shopping centre at the bottom
of Palmerston Avenue. A report was submitted to the Executive in June 2013
detailing proposals to develop 16 x 1 bedroom apartments. The Executive
approved a budget of £1,600,000 for the scheme to be built. Unfortunately planning
permission was not secured as the scheme was perceived to suffer from insufficient
parking.

8.

Revised proposals have been drafted which improve the design and achieve
planning policy compliant parking provision on site. Close consultation has taken
place with planning officers throughout the re-design process and an application for
planning permission has been submitted.

9.

The revised design, combined with increases to current build cost trends has
resulted in the need to increase the budget for this development by £250,000,
bringing the projected total capital development cost to £1,850,000. The scheme is
forecast to commence in Autumn 2014.

10. A successful bid to the HCA would help to subsidise development costs. It is
proposed that a sum in the region of £320,000 is applied for.
COLDEAST SHELTERED SCHEME
11. As part of the planning negotiations for the Coldeast Hospital development land was
secured by the Council to provide a new sheltered housing scheme.
12. Outline approval was granted in 2011 which showed provision of 40 self-contained
flats with associated communal spaces. Unfortunately if built the outline proposal
would have presented a number of challenges and resulted in a low quality housing
scheme.
Revised proposals have therefore been drafted which take a
fundamentally different approach to the buildings position and design.
13. A detailed planning application has been submitted seeking approval for the
construction of a 36 unit scheme providing a mixture of 1 bedroom and 2 bedroom
flats. Each unit will provide modern, high quality accommodation with good internal
spaces and private balconies. All residents will have access to communal living
spaces including, lounge, gardens, washing facilities and mobility scooter store.
14. The projected total build cost is £5,500,000 and building is forecast to commence in
Spring 2015. It is proposed that a bid for funding is submitted to the HCA in the
region of £720,000. However, it is important to note that as the development will
take place on land secured at nil cost to the Council via planning negotiation the
HCA may decline the application to provide funding.

Page 80

COLDEAST CLOSE
15. By purchasing 2 family homes in Coldeast Close the Council has secured
developable land suitable for 6 x 2 bedroom houses. A planning application has
been submitted to build a row of ‘Passivhaus’ homes. These are highly energy
efficient homes which utilise solar gain and high levels of thermal insulation to
minimise the requirement for external sources of heating. The design and building
processes require meticulous attention to detail and as such present certain
challenges.
16. If built these will be the first certified passive houses in the area. As the Welborne
plan requires a percentage of all new homes to be passive homes standard, this
development will be an exemplar to inform future development of the new
community.
17. The budget required to fund this development is £854,000. Due to the unknown
nature of this development there is an increased level of contingency included in our
cost projections. The scheme is forecast to commence in Spring 2014.
18. A successful bid to the HCA for grant funding would help to subsidise development
costs and it is proposed that a bid in the region of £120,000 is applied for.
WORKING IN PARTNERHIP
19. In the autumn of 2013, the Council joined the Wayfarer Partnership as a provisional
member. This is a housing development consortium of local Registered Providers
led by Radian Housing Association. Other members include First Wessex,
Greenoak Housing Association, Havant Housing Association, Petersfield Housing
Association, Raven Housing Trust, Rosemary Simmons Housing Trust, and
Southampton City Council. There are a number of advantages to being part of the
Partnership, which help to streamline procurement processes and ensure good
value for money when appointing services from Architects, Surveyors and Building
Contractors. The Partnership works collaboratively when bidding for funding from
the HCA. This affords its members greater influence and flexibility than could
otherwise be assured when working independently.
RISK ASSESSMENT
20. The budgets proposed in this report are estimations of the total build costs expected
for each scheme. If the Council is unsuccessful in securing grant from the HCA or
only secures some of what is applied for then the full build costs shall need to be
borne by the Council if the homes are to be delivered
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
21. The cost of delivering these three schemes is currently projected to be £8,204,000.
This can be funded from the Council’s Housing Revenue Account, but will consume
the majority of the head room within the existing HRA borrowing cap and until
replenished, will restrict the Council’s ability to build new homes in the future.
Therefore it is important for the Council to apply for HCA grant funding and to
continue to lobby central government for the HRA borrowing cap to be lifted in order
to help fund future delivery of affordable housing.
22. All new homes built in this programme will be let on an Affordable Rent. This is
where rents are set at up to 80% of the open market rental value having regard to
Page 81

the Local Housing Allowance. The Council has the option to seek approval from the
HCA to convert a proportion of existing properties over to this more expensive form
of tenure. However, whilst doing so would increase the rental income to the Council
it would also reduce the number of homes available at Social Rents and could result
in neighbours renting identical properties from the Council paying significantly
different rents. This would have an impact upon the overall balance of Borough’s
affordable housing stock and as such there are no proposals to introduce rent
conversions at this time.
CONCLUSION
23. The Council has drafted proposals for the development of 58 units of
accommodation to meet a range of housing needs. This shall form the bulk of the
Councils development programme up to 2018 and will help to meet one of the
Councils corporate priorities. There is an opportunity to apply for funding from the
HCA to help contribute to the cost of delivering this programme and it is proposed
that the Council submits a bid through the Wayfarer Partnership.

Reference Papers:
Homes and Communities Agency - Affordable Homes Programme 2015 – 2018
Prospectus ( January 2014).

Page 82

APPENDIX A
PALMERSTON AVENUE

Page 83

Page 84

APPENDIX B
COLDEAST SHELTERED HOUSING SCHEME

Page 85

Page 86

APPENDIX C
COLDEAST CLOSE PASSIVHAUS

Page 87

Page 88

Agenda Item 8(4)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate
Objective:

Health and Housing
Affordable Housing Development Opportunities
Director of Community
Housing Strategy
A balanced housing market

Purpose:
To advise the Executive of sites in the Council’s ownership which are actively being
considered for the provision of new affordable housing.

Executive summary:
The Council has a corporate objective to enable the delivery of 500 new affordable
homes by 2017.
A number of sites in the Council’s ownership have been identified as suitable for the
development of new affordable homes. Officers are currently investigating the
potential of these sites and preparing detailed development proposals for
consideration.
The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive of those sites and to seek
approval to serve notice on any tenants within the potential development sites to
maintain the entirety of the site(s) whilst detailed development proposals are
prepared for consultation. By serving notice, the Council will be restricting the
tenant’s opportunity to exercise their Right to Buy any properties within the
proposed development area whilst detailed development proposals are prepared
and brought forward for consideration.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive agrees to:
a) note the list of Council owned sites currently being considered for the delivery
of new affordable housing;
b) authorise the Director of Community to serve notice preventing the sale via
the Right to Buy of all existing dwellings situated within the potential
development sites listed in this report for a period of up to 5 years; and
c) grant permission for detailed feasibility work to be undertaken and for
planning applications to be submitted as / when proposals have been
finalised.

Page 89

Reason:
To enable detailed investigations to be made into the development potential of the
sites listed and for planning permission to be applied for where it is appropriate to do
so.
To protect the integrity of the sites in recognition of the Council’s intentions and to
ensure the development potential is not lost as a consequence of existing dwellings
being sold under the Right to Buy.

Cost of proposals:
There are no immediate costs associated with this report aside from those to be met
by existing budgets.

Appendices:
A: Site location of 123 Bridge Road
B: Site location of Holly Close and illustrations showing site potential
C: Site location of Menin House and illustrations showing site potential
D:Site location of Castle View Road and illustrations showing site potential
E: Site location of Newtown and illustrations showing site potential
Background papers:
Exempt by virtue of Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.

Page 90

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 07 April 2014
Subject: Future Affordable Housing Development Opportunities
Briefing by: Director of Community
Portfolio: Policy and Resources

INTRODUCTION
1.

The Council has a corporate objective to enable the provision of 500 new affordable
homes by 2017. In addition to enabling new housing through planning policy, the
Council has a history of working in partnership with local Registered Providers making
use of Council land for new affordable homes to be built. More recently the Council has
started to make use of its assets to build new Council owned homes.

2.

Council land assets are reviewed on an ongoing basis to assess and identify potential
development opportunities. This report details a number of sites located within the
Borough where it has been determined that a potential for future housing development
exists.

3.

The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive of these opportunities and to seek
approval to earmark each site for development (subject to planning approval). This will
ensure the sites remain complete whilst officers investigate and prepare detailed
development proposals for consideration. If approved notice will be served on existing
tenants advising them of the Council’s intentions and revoking any right to buy for up to
5 years. This will provide sufficient time for detailed proposals to be prepared and
submitted for planning approval.
SITE 1 – 123 BRIDGE ROAD, SARISBURY

4.

The Executive recently approved the purchase of 123 Bridge Road, Sarisbury from the
Homes and Communities Agency. The existing dwelling and the associated grounds
provide an opportunity for residential development. An architect has been appointed
and is in the process of working up detailed proposals. At this stage it understood the
site may be able to accommodate up to 7 new homes (subject to planning approval). In
light of the progress that is being made with establishing proposals for this site, it is
proposed that it be included as an ‘indicative’ scheme in the Council’s application for
funding via the Homes and Communities Agency’s Affordable Homes Programme 20152018.
SITE 2 – HOLLY CLOSE, SARISBURY

Page 91

5.

An area of Council owned land has been identified which offers the potential for
residential development. The is situated at the bottom end of Holly Close and currently
accommodates a communal resident car park, an area of unused scrubland and a block
of 4 Council owned 2 bedroom flats. The car park is not well situated for its purpose
and appears to be under used. In consequence residents are parking cars fully on
pavements outside their homes, which is not a desirable solution. Initial feasibility work
indicates that it may be possible to deliver additional units of housing whilst also
achieving a more appropriate parking strategy for local residents.

6.

To protect the integrity of the site whilst detailed proposals are worked on, the Council
must act to prohibit the existing residents of the 4 flats from activating their Right to Buy
their homes. If triggered the potential for development will be compromised. This in
turn will result in the opportunity being lost to improve the parking provision of the Close
as a whole.

7.

Any development is likely to be sensitive inasmuch as it would affect local residents of
Holly Close. Therefore consultation with local residents at the appropriate time will be
key to the success of any proposed redevelopment.

8.

The Executive is requested to agree to prohibit the 4 flats from being sold under the
Right to Buy for a period of up to 5 years. This will involve serving a notice upon the
existing residents notifying them of the Councils intentions and informing them that the
Right to Buy has been revoked. The Council would look to move any residents who are
unhappy about their Rights being revoked in this way and would then use the units as
temporary housing whilst proposals are being worked on.

9.

This will allow sufficient time for proposals to be worked up and for redevelopment to
take place should it prove a viable and desirable opportunity to pursue.
SITE 3 – REAR OF MENIN HOUSE, FAREHAM NORTH WEST

10. Menin House is a block comprising studio apartments and 1 bedroom flats. There is a
surface are to the rear which accommodates several blocks of garages. The garages
are in a mixed state of repair. Some have been sold but the majority remain in Council
ownership. Initial investigations suggest that there is significant potential to provide new
homes on the garage site. It is proposed that further work is undertaken to establish
proposals for the redevelopment of this area including a review of the future use of
Menin House.
SITE 4 – REAR OF CASTLE VIEW ROAD, PORTCHESTER
11. There is a block of garages situated on Castle View Road. The site backs on to a local
allotment. Initial feasibility work indicates that the area could accommodate circa 3
family homes. It is proposed that further investigation is undertaken to establish the
development potential of the site.
SITE 5 - NEWTOWN, PORTCHESTER
12. A garage block comprising of 2 units, both of which remain in Council ownership.
Feasibility work indicates that by utilising the area currently accommodating the garages
and a small corner of maintained grass to the north, a development of 1 residential unit
could be achieved. At this early stage it is thought that the site would be most suitable
for a bungalow. It is proposed that further investigation is undertaken to establish the
development potential of the site.
Page 92

RISK ASSESSMENT
13. Some of the development opportunities identified above would be lost if existing tenants
purchase their homes under the Right to Buy scheme, which would compromise the
integrity of the site.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
14. The costs of investigating and preparing detailed development proposals can be met
from within existing budgets.
CONCLUSION
15. The Council has identified a number of sites where there is a potential to deliver
additional units of affordable housing. If approved, further work shall be undertaken to
protect the integrity of these sites and to firm up proposals so that applications for
planning permission can be made.
16. Work is being done to identify further sites on land in Council ownership. Information on
these will be brought to the Executive once the initial feasibility work has been
completed.

Reference Papers:

Page 93

APPENDIX A – 123 BRIDGE ROAD, SARISBURY

Page 94

APPENDIX B – HOLLY CLOSE, SARISBURY

Page 95

Page 96

APPENDIX C: LAND TO REAR OF MENIN HOUSE, FAREHAM NORTH WEST

Page 97

Page 98

APPENDIX D – CASTLE VIEW ROAD, PORTCHESTER

Page 99

Page 100

APPENDIX E – NEWTOWN, PORTCHESTER

Page 101

Page 102

Agenda Item 9(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
7 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:

Leisure and Community
Western Wards Pool - Project Approval
Director of Community and Director of Finance and Resources
Leisure Strategy

Corporate
Objective:

Leisure For Health and Fun

Purpose:
To seek approval of the preferred location, the development brief and request
project funding to build a new swimming pool and leisure facility in the Western
Wards.

Executive summary:
The provision of a public swimming facility in the Western Wards has been identified
as a high corporate priority for a number of years.
In 2009 the Council commissioned a study to examine the demand and need for a
public swimming pool in the Western Wards. This study was refreshed and updated
in 2013. The study confirmed the need for a 6 lane, 25 metre pool with a learner
pool and associated dry side facilities including a 100 station gym.
In 2013, the Council secured the early transfer of land at Coldeast from the Homes
and Communities Agency (HCA) for the provision of a swimming pool as part of the
community benefit package arising from the granting of planning permission for the
phase 2 development at Coldeast.
This report seeks approval of the development brief and requests project funding to
enable work to commence on the design, procurement and construction of a new
leisure facility on the Coldeast site.

Recommendation:
That the Executive:
a) agrees that the new swimming pool and leisure facility be constructed at
Coldeast on the land transferred to the Council from the Homes and
Communities Agency;
b) agrees the outline project specification for the swimming pool and leisure
Page 103

facility as detailed in Appendix B;
c) approves a provisional budget of £7 million for the provision of the new
swimming pool, to be funded from the Council’s capital reserves and
prudential borrowing;
d) requests officers to bring forward a report exploring the options for
replenishing the Council’s capital reserves through the sale of existing assets
within the Western Wards; and
e) notes that additional financial resources will need to be identified and
allocated at a future date for the access road, the setting out of the cemetery,
allotments and construction of a new community building.
Reason:
To enable work to start on the planning, procurement and construction of a new
swimming pool and leisure facility in the Western Wards.

Cost of proposals:
The provisional cost of providing a new swimming pool and leisure facility in the
Western Wards at Coldeast is estimated to be £7M (inclusive of fees). This cost can
be met from a combination of the Council’s capital reserve (subject to agreeing a
pay now and replenish strategy) and prudential borrowing. In addition, the sum of
£1M has been allocated within the Open Spaces Improvement Programme for the
provision of the sports pitches and associated facilities.

Appendices:
Appendix A: Site Plan for Coldeast (showing possible location of new swimming pool)
Appendix B: Outline Specification for the swimming pool and leisure facility.
Appendix C: Draft Project Plan (Key milestones)
Background papers:
CONFIDENTIAL – 2009 Consultants Report (Strategic Leisure) - Review of demand,
viability and costs of providing a swimming pool in the Western
Wards. (Updated 2013).

Page 104

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 7 April 2014
Subject: Western Wards Pool - Project Approval
Briefing by: Director of Community and Director of Finance and Resources
Portfolio: Leisure and Community
INTRODUCTION
1.

The provision of a public swimming facility in the Western Wards has been identified as
a high corporate priority for a number of years.

2.

This report outlines the evidence of need for a new swimming pool in the Western
Wards, seeks approval of the project brief and requests project funding to enable work
to commence on the design, procurement and construction of a new swimming pool and
leisure facility at Coldeast.
EVIDENCE OF NEED

3.

In June 2013, consultants (Strategic Leisure) were commissioned by the Council to
review the need and viability of providing a swimming pool to serve the Western Wards
of the Borough. The review explored the demographic profile, the supply and location
of existing facilities, market segmentation and existing health and fitness facilities.

4.

The assessment of demand highlights the following issues which support the need for
additional water space in the Borough:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Increasing population
Increasing levels of adult and child obesity
High levels of latent demand
Identified deficit in accessible water space
Identified demand for swimming in the area
A high number of residents currently swim in facilities outside of the Borough

5.

The report concluded that there is clear evidence of need for a new swimming pool in
the Borough and locating it in the Western Wards would help to meet this and reduce
the net export of swimmers to other neighbouring facilities.

6.

Based on this evidence, the consultants went on to suggest that there is a case for
developing a new facility and as a minimum it should comprise of a 6 lane x 25 m pool.
Furthermore, they recommend that a development of this scale will require ancillary
provision and also fitness facilities to generate revenue which will offset operating costs
of the swimming pool.
Page 105

Site Options
7.

Members will recall that land was secured at Coldeast for the provision of a new
swimming pool as part of the community benefits package arising from the phase 2
development plans for Coldeast. This land was successfully transferred to the Council
from the Homes and Community Agency in October 2013.

8.

Members will also be aware that the Council has held discussions with New River
Retail, the owners of the Locks Heath District Centre regarding their proposals for
redeveloping the district centre. This included an offer to provide a new leisure facility
on the site.

9.

The consultant’s report included a site options analysis exploring the advantages and
disadvantages of locating the new swimming pool at Coldeast or Locks Heath.

10. Due to the unmet demand and the close proximity of the two sites, both sites were
considered to be equally desirable and viable for potential operators and customers
alike.
11. On balance, given that planning issues will be critical to the development of a new
swimming pool, Strategic Leisure suggested that the Coldeast site is likely to be an
easier site to develop and would help to ensure delivery of a new swimming pool in the
not distant future.
12. Following receipt of the consultant’s report, Officers met with SLM, the operators of
Fareham Leisure Centre to discuss the findings and key recommendations. SLM have
confirmed that in their view there is demand for a swimming pool in the Western Wards
and agreed with the suggested mix of facilities. They also confirmed that if they were
appointed to be operator of this new facility, their preference would be for the pool to be
located at the Coldeast site.
PROPOSAL
13. Having considered the advice of Strategic Leisure and consulted with SLM, it is
proposed that the new swimming pool and ancillary facilities be built at Coldeast
(Appendix A - see attached site plan).
14. The outline specification for the facility is set out below and has been developed based
on the assessed need for the area. This will form the basis of developing a detailed
specification but is subject to sufficient resources being available to fund the works:•

6 lane x 25 m pool (graded in depth from 0.9m to 1.8m)

•

A separate learner pool (13m x 10m)

•

Changing village (unisex)

•

Pool store (including space for pool covers)

•

Plant room

•

Spectator seating / Viewing area

•

Min 80 work station gym (minimum space requirement of 400m2)

Page 106

•

A separate exercise room/ dance studio (minimum space requirement of 250m2)

•

First aid room

•

Reception/Foyer

•

Office accommodation

•

Meeting room

•

Toilet facilities

•

Cleaning store

•

Car parking (minimum of 200 spaces)

15. A more detailed specification is set out in Appendix B.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
16. It is estimated that a basic swimming pool and leisure facility as outlined above will cost
in the region of £7M. This cost includes professional fees and provision for setting out a
car park for 200 spaces.
17. The estimate does not include the cost of constructing the road junction and access
road required to service the pool and other community facilities (which may include an
allotments, cemetery and sports pitches). It is estimated that the road junction and
service road to access this site will cost up to £1M.
18. The estimated costs for the swimming pool and service road assume no contaminated
land and no unusual ground conditions are found on the site.
19. A more accurate cost will not be known until a detailed scheme has been prepared and
tendered.
20. The advice provided by Strategic Leisure also indicate that a leisure centre of this size,
and taking account of the level of unmet demand, should not require any on-going
revenue subsidy, and dependent on the final design, it is more likely that the Centre will
give rise to an operating surplus when fully established.
21. At the current time, no financial provision has been made for setting out the allotments
or cemetery provision or community building to support the new pitches; estimates will
be sought for these facilities in the tender process. Provision of the pitches, changing
rooms and possible community building have an initial estimate of £970,000
22. It is proposed that the cost of £7M is funded in part from the Council’s capital reserve,
together with £1.5m of prudential borrowing. As this will fully utilise the Council’s capital
reserves, measures must be put in place to replenish the capital reserves as soon as
practicable. Therefore, it is proposed that Officers be requested to bring forward a report
exploring the opportunity to replenish the capital reserves through the sale and/or
disposal of Council assets in the Western Wards.
23. Further work is required to identify the cost of laying out the road junction and the
service road to the swimming pool, sports pitches, cemetery and allotments, along with
Page 107

an appropriate method of funding.
NEXT STEPS
24. Subject to the Executive’s approval of this report, the next steps will be to assemble a
project team to commission and oversee the following:• Preparation of a detailed business plan
• Site investigations
• Appointment of an architect
• Appointment of CDM coordinator
• Appointment of Employers Agent
• Tender appointment of Leisure Operator
• Preparation of detailed planning application
• Public consultation
• Planning application submitted for approval
• Preparation of tender specification for construction
• Award of tender for construction
• Appoint Leisure Operator
• Commence works on site
• Practical completion
• Opening of new facility
25. A draft project timetable is set out in Appendix C
26. Officers are currently reviewing a number of framework agreements to see if these
would help to reduce the delivery timescale whilst ensuring the project delivers value for
money. Officers have appointed consultants (Strategic Leisure) to provide best practice
advice to inform the work of the project team.

Page 108

RISK ASSESSMENT
27. The key risks and the proposed risk reduction measures associated with this project are
set out in the table below:RISK

RISK REDUCTION MEASURE

Ground Conditions – risk of unusual Commission site survey and geoground conditions, contaminated land and technological survey to asses ground
or hidden utility services crossing the site conditions and inform project.
which could add unforeseen costs to
project.
Ecology Survey Results – risk of project Commission ecology survey as soon as
delay arising from the need to transfer or practicable, to enable results to be used to
relocate flora or fauna identified in the inform any mitigation measures.
ecology survey
Planning Permission – delays or failure
to secure detailed planning approval could
delay project and incur additional costs.

Ensure we appoint competent architectural
practice, engage fully with development
control and planning policy team; ensure
public consultation.

Project Costs overrun – risk of project
exceeding available budget.

Accurate cost will not be known until
detailed design is agreed and tendered.
Award of tender will be subject to
Executive Approval. Project costs will be
closely monitored throughout.

Principal Contractor goes into
administration – resulting in works on site
coming to a standstill and delaying project
completion.

Full financial checks will be made before
award of contract. A performance bond will
be secured at the time of awarding the
contract. Contract conditions will seek to
allow novation of site and or contract in the
event of main contractor going into
administration.

Project timescales overrun – risk of
project timescales being exceeded due to
staff vacancies, competing priorities and or
other unforeseen circumstances (i.e.
shortage of skills in construction industry)

Project Team will closely monitor and
review delivery timescales. Project Team
will be supported by consultants offering
best practice advice and if the need arises
temporary staff will be employed to cover
any vacancies. Shortage of skills in
construction industry and capacity issues
impacting on delivery will be considered
during tender process.

Appointment of a new Leisure Operator
– Appointment of a leisure operator for this
new facility will be subject to EU
procurement rules. There is a risk that a
new operator would act in competition with
Fareham Leisure Centre which could be

Careful consideration will be given to the
procurement of the leisure operator for the
new facility with the aim of insuring that the
two facilities do not compete against each
other. Appropriate break clauses have
been included in the Fareham leisure

Page 109

damaging to the Fareham Leisure Offer.

Centre contract.

Replenish Capital Reserves – it will be
important for the Council to replenish its
capital reserves to ensure sufficient capital
funds are available to support future high
priority corporate projects.

Officers will prepare a report for the
Executive outlining the opportunities for
replenishing the capital reserve through
the sale or disposal of existing assets.

CONSULTATION
28. The draft specification for the swimming pool and leisure facility has been informed by
the work of the consultants Strategic Leisure. The specification has also be shared with
the current operator of Fareham Leisure Centre and they were invited to comment to
ensure the facility provides the right mix of facilities and space to maximise the return on
the investment.
29. Once a detailed site plan and scheme has been prepared, the plans will be shared with
the Ward Councillors, the Leisure and Community Policy Development and Review
Panel and then taken out for public consultation prior to submission for detailed
planning approval. This will provide an opportunity for any public comments to be
considered before a formal application is submitted.
CONCLUSION
30. It has been a high corporate priority to provide a public swimming pool in the Western
Wards for many years. There is clear evidence of both the need for a new public
swimming pool and the potential commercial viability to support the Council’s ambition
to bring forward such a scheme for development. The Council has explored alternative
locations and secured land at Coldeast for the new facility.
31. The Council has the capital resources in place to facilitate the delivery of this exciting
new facility. Members are invited to approve the project brief and allocate project
funding to enable work to commence.

Reference Papers: Strategic Leisure: Revised Western Wards Swimming Pool Feasibility
Study: July 2013

Page 110

µ

Appendix A - Proposed location of swimming pool.

Page 111

This map is reproduced from O rdnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution
or civil proceedings. Licence 100019110. 2014

Page 112

Appendix B
Outline Specification for the swimming pool and leisure facility.
Swimming Pool / Leisure Centre
The design of the swimming pool facilities to be based on the Sport England design
guide for Affordable Community Swimming Pools.
External:
Detailed below bit to include:
•

Access road and car parking to include accessible bays, parent and toddler
bays, motorcycle parking and secure bicycle parking.

•

Coach drop off points and parking.

•

External seating.

•

Service yard.

•

Appropriate hard and soft landscaping.

General:
•

Main entrance with draft lobby, foyer and main reception.

•

Office accommodation and store.

•

Unisex accessible WC.

“Wet Side”
•

A six lane 25m pool graded in depth from 0.9m to 1.8m deep.

•

Access facilities to the pools for those with a disability including easy access
steps, pool side steps and pool hoist(s).

•

10m learner pool.

•

Pool store accessible from the pool surround.

•

Spectator seating.

•

Wet side changing facilities, to include unisex, accessible, family and group
changing, single and double changing cubicles.

•

Locker facilities.

Page 113

•

Pre and post swim shower facilities.

•

WC provision – separate male and female and provision for baby changing
facilities.

•

Unisex accessible WC.

•

Cleaners store.

•

Vanity area.

•

First aid room (accessible from the pool surround and from outside the pool
area).

•

Plant room with areas for boilers, combined heat and power, thermal store,
water treatment and electrical switch gear.

“Dry Side”
•

100 station Fitness Gym based on 500m2 Gym and 100m2 dry changing
facility.

•

Dance studio of approx 250m2.

•

Reception area and office facilities.

•

Plant room.

Page 114

Appendix C
Draft Indicative Project Plan
Task

Timescale
Operator

Procurement process for preferred operator.

May 2014 – May 2015

Select preferred operator

June 2015

Detailed
contract
negotiations
agreements
Handover to operator

and

legal July 2015 – December 2016
January 2017

Fit out by operator

February 2017 – March 2017
Built Facilities

Agree procurement route for the built facilities.

May 2014

Appoint required consultants (architect, CDM
coordinator, employer’s agent etc.)
Undertake required site investigations and
surveys.
Preparation of initial plans for the swimming pool
and community facilities.
Consultation with ward councillors and Leisure and
Community Panel.
Public consultation.

May – July 2014

January 2015 – February 2015

Design changes based on public consultation.

March 2015

Submission of planning application.

April 2015

Planning consent obtained.

July 2015

Preparation of construction tender specification.

March 2015 – August 2015

Construction tender period.

September 2015 – October 2015

Executive to award construction contract

December 2015

Award of Contract.

February 2016

Construction period.

April 2016 – January 2017

Facility Open.

April 2017

Page 115

August – Sept 2014
August 2014 – October 2014
November - December 2014

Page 116

Agenda Item 10(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate
Objective:

Streetscene
Award of Tender for Hedge and Sports Ground
Maintenance
Director of Street Scene
Procurement
A dynamic, prudent, progressive and best value Council

Purpose:
To approve the letting of a contract for hedge and sports grounds maintenance for a
5 year term commencing July 2014.

Executive summary:
The current contract to maintain the hedges and sport grounds was awarded to The
Landscape Group Ltd. in July 2011 and is due to end in June 2014. A new contract
has been tendered for a three year period with an option to extend for a further two
years.
The Tender was advertised on the South East Business Portal and eight companies
returned a compliant pre-qualification submission. The submissions were scored
according to financial information, business practices, business standing, relevant
experiences, references and contract specific questions. The five highest scoring
companies were selected for invitation to tender.
Four tenders were received and the companies were each invited in to the Council
to give a presentation to key officers on their bid. The tender returns were then
scored on price, quality, customer service, health & safety and service delivery. The
company achieving the highest combined score was the Council’s incumbent
contractor, The Landscape Group Ltd.

Recommendation:
That the contract for hedge and sports grounds maintenance over a 5 year term
commencing July 2014 is awarded to The Landscape Group Ltd.

Reason:
The Landscape Group Ltd. achieved the highest combined score based on cost,
quality and service.

Page 117

Cost of proposals:
The cost for year one of the contract is £72,000 with the cost reviewed at each
anniversary to be adjusted by a percentage equal to the mean percentage change
in the Consumer Price Index over the previous Contract Year.
An increase of £22,000 in the annual grounds maintenance revenue budget will be
required.

Appendix A:

Cost Breakdown of Tenders
(Exempt from publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972)

Background papers: Tender Documents
(Exempt from publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972)

Page 118

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 7 April 2014
Subject: Award of Tender for Hedge and Sports Ground Maintenance
Briefing by: Director of Street Scene
Portfolio: Streetscene

INTRODUCTION
1.

In July 2011 the current contract for the provision of hedge and sports ground
maintenance was awarded to The Landscape Group Ltd. for a three year term with an
option to extend for a further two years.

2.

The contract covers the maintenance of approximately 37 kilometres of hedgerows
located throughout the Borough in cemeteries, Housing areas, open spaces and on
Hampshire Highway land adjacent to roadsides and greenways. The contract also
includes approximately 76,000 square metres of rural grass cutting and the renovation
and aeration of the Council’s winter sports pitches.

3.

The Council’s incumbent contractor, The Landscape Group Ltd. was appointed through
a competitive tender process in 2011 having achieved the highest combined score in an
analysis matrix comprising cost, quality and service delivery.

4.

Following a difficult settling in period for the current contractor, that led to a number of
complaints from customers, Streetscene Officers and the contractor’s management
team worked together to improve the information available for both parties and put in
place a settled and experienced team working on the contract. This partnership
approach resulted in significant progress with the contractor’s performance and both the
quality of the service and the time taken to complete the scheduled work improved.

5.

As a result of the significant improvement in the contractor’s performance a discussion
took place between the Landscape Group’s senior management and Officers of the
Council regarding the potential to extend the contract term in line with the terms and
conditions of the current contract. However, the Landscape Group’s admission that they
were losing money on the agreement and could only extend the terms with a significant
increase in their schedule of rates meant that the Council had little option but to once
again test the market and therefore, re-tender the contract.

Page 119

TENDER PROCESS
6.

During autumn 2013 officers completed a thorough review of the existing contract
documents and site information in preparation for the new tender process. The
expression of interest stage was advertised on the South East Business Portal for a
period of 30 days from 9 December 2013.

7.

Due to the value of the contract exceeding the EU threshold of £173,934 for goods and
services the contract was required to be advertised following the EU Tender – OJEU
Restricted Procedure.

8.

On the deadline date of 8 January 2014 a total of eight expressions of interest
submissions had been received. The submissions were scored according to financial
information, business practices, business standing, relevant experiences and
references.

9.

The five highest scoring companies have been selected to tender and the contract
documents were issued to them on 17 January 2014 with a due submission date of 21
February 2014.
The five companies invited to tender were:
•

The Landscape Group Ltd (The Council’s current contractor)

•

ISS Facility Services – Landscaping (A national grounds maintenance contractor)

•

G Burley & Sons Ltd (A national grounds maintenance contractor)

•

PJ & CM Froud (The Council’s previous contractor. A small sized company based
in the South)

•

Grasstex Ltd (A small sized company based in the South)

10. The above named companies provided a good balance of potential suppliers with two
small local and three large national tenderers, two of whom have experience of the
contract. This range of companies provided the Council with a good market response to
the tender process.
RETURNED TENDERS
11. Four Tenders were received from; The Landscape Group Ltd, G Burley & Sons Ltd, PJ
& CM Froud and Grasstex Ltd. The Tenders were scored using a cost, quality and
service delivery matrix similar to the 2011 assessment however, on this occasion the
scores were adjusted to place greater emphasis on the quality and service provision
elements. This ensured that the assessment could take into account the importance of
the quality components of the bid in equal measure to the cost of providing the service.
This change was implemented to reduce the potential for a contractor to bid too low for
the contract and then be unable to fulfil all the contract terms and conditions without
making a loss and/or cutting corners on service delivery.

Page 120

12. The evaluation scoring was split into two main elements comprising cost and service
delivery as shown in the below table and weighted as follows:
• Cost 50%
• Quality of service 30%
• Working procedures 10%
• Safe working practices and procedures 10%
Rank

Company

Cost
score

Service, safety &
quality score

Total
score

Max(50)

(Max 50)

(Max 100)

1.

The Landscape Group
Ltd

37

50

87

2.

Grasstex Ltd

50

35

85

3.

PJ & CM Froud

34

49

83

4.

G Burley & Sons Ltd

39

38

77

13. Although the price bid by both Grasstex and Burley (Appendix A) is lower than that of
The Landscape Group, when the service and quality scores were added, The
Landscape Group scored highest.
14. The price bid by Grasstex was far lower than the other three submissions however, the
quality score was also the lowest of the four submissions and following the post tender
presentation it was agreed by the officers present that the Grasstex bid would struggle
to meet the Council’s expectations of service delivery and quality.
15. PJ & CM Froud scored well for quality but is the highest returned price of the four
tenders received.
16. Comparing the two mid-range bids confirmed Burley’s price was slightly lower than The
Landscape Group but the service and quality score was significantly lower and
therefore, placed Burleys in last position overall in the evaluation matrix.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
17. The cost of the contract will be £72,000 per annum therefore, an increase is required
over the previous Hedge & Sport Contract of £22,000.
18. Officers have calculated that the service would cost approximately £80,000 per annum
to provide in house if delivered by the Council’s grounds maintenance team.

Page 121

CONCLUSION
19. Having achieved the highest combined tender assessment score based on cost, quality
and service and it is recommended that the Executive approve the award of contract to
The Landscape Group Ltd.
20. Additional £22,000 will be required for the grounds maintenance revenue budget to
meet the predicted shortfall in the £72,000 per annum total cost of the tender. As stated
in the terms of the contact, the cost is reviewed at each anniversary and will need to be
adjusted by a percentage equal to the mean percentage change in the Consumer Price
Index over the previous Contract Year.

Reference Papers:

Tender documents
(Exempt by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Local Government Act 1972

Page 122

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 123

Page 124

Agenda Item 10(2)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:

Streetscene
Project Integra Action Plan 2014-17
Director of Environmental Services

Corporate
Objective:

Protecting and Enhancing the Environment

Purpose:
To consider the Project Integra (PI) action plan for 2014-17.

Executive summary:
Following a fundamental review of PI that was concluded in 2012, the partnership’s
Strategic board approved the following at its meeting on 21st March 2013:
(a) a revised constitution that removed references to the partnership Scrutiny
Board, which had been disbanded;
(b) revisions to the Joint Municipal Waste Management strategy; and
(c) the partnership action plan for 2013-16
The strategic board considered and approved the 2014-17 plan at a meeting on 27th
February 2014. In line with the constitution of the partnership, individual member
authorities are now required to consider the plan.

Recommendation:
That the Executive approves the 2014-17 PI partnership action plan as detailed in
the briefing paper and appendices.

Reason:
Fareham is a member of Project Integra and has been an active participant in the
development of the action plan.

Cost of proposals:
The costs of being a partner within Project Integra are contained within existing
Streetscene budgets.

Page 125

Appendices:

A: Project Integra Strategic board Decision Notice
B: Project Integra Action Plan 2014-17

Background papers: None

Page 126

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 07 April 2014
Subject: Project Integra Action Plan 2014-17
Briefing by: Director of Environmental Services
Portfolio: Streetscene
INTRODUCTION
1.

The fundamental review of Project Integra that was concluded in 2012 provided
the opportunity to revise the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy
(JMWMS) for all partner authorities. The refreshed strategy then formed the
basis of a three –year rolling action plan, commencing 2013-14.

2.

A number of the actions in this initial plan have been completed during the year
and some have been carried forward into the 2014-17 plan due to their nature
and complexity. Some new actions have also been added.

3.

At the PI Strategic board meeting on 27th February 2014, the plan was
considered and approved. A record of this decision is attached to the report at
appendix (A). In accordance with the constitution of the partnership, individual
partner authorities are now required to consider the plan

PARTNERSHIP OBJECTIVES
4.

The PI Strategic Board is constituted as a Joint Committee of the 14 local
authorities with responsibility for waste management in Hampshire, including
the unitary authorities of Portsmouth and Southampton. The long term waste
disposal contractor, Veolia Environmental Services (VES) is a non – voting
member of the partnership.

5.

The overarching objective of the partnership is to provide a sustainable solution
for dealing with Hampshire’s municipal waste in an environmentally sound, cost
effective and reliable way. Success in achieving this depends on joint working
between all parties in the best interests of the communities in which they
operate.

6.

The operational focus for the partnership’s activities has been agreed through a
number of generic workstreams that are detailed in the plan and reflect a
common aim of working to reduce costs across the whole system through:
i.

Communication and behaviour change

Page 127

ii.

Waste prevention, including reuse

iii.

Recycling and general performance improvements, for instance through
reducing contamination, increasing capture of materials, generating
income and changing management arrangements

iv.

Reducing the quantities of waste sent to landfill

v.

Joint working arrangements and activities

vi.

Improving efficiency and effectiveness of services through collaboration
with neighbouring authorities, including the South East seven (SE7)
counties in England.

2014-17 ACTION PLAN
7.

The plan sets out the key actions for the PI partnership in 2014-15, with longer
term actions through to 2016-17, along with the budget for the proposed
activities and the required contributions of each partner.

8.

It covers the collective actions of PI partners to deliver the JMWMS. Actions
involving two or more partners are included; actions by individual authorities are
not.

9.

The action plan is a three year rolling plan in recognition that some actions will
take longer than a year to complete. However, most of the detail is for 2014-15.
It is prepared annually by strategy Officers and presented for approval by the PI
Strategic Board and subsequent approval by each authority.

10. Each action has a lead officer or authority assigned, a prescribed timescale for
delivery and where possible, an indication of the cost or resource required to
deliver the action. Details of the plan can be found at appendix (B) to the report.
11. A budget for the partnership for 2014-15 is included in the plan, with the details
of each partnership authority’s contribution. The contribution proposed from
Fareham Borough Council can be met from within existing revenue budgets.
RISK ASSESSMENT
12. There are no significant risks associated with this report.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
13. There are no additional costs associated with approving the 2014-17 action
plan, budget and partner contribution.
CONCLUSION
14. The Project Integra action plan as outlined in this report and attached
appendices have been approved by the PI Strategic Board and the council’s
Executive is recommended to approve the plan.
Reference Papers: None

Page 128

Project Integra – Notice of Strategic Board Decisions
Name of meeting
Date of meeting
Venue

1

Project Integra Strategic Board
Thursday 27 February 2014
Hampshire County Council, Wellington Room

Agenda Item 3 – Minutes of last meeting – Marked 007
RESOLVED
That the minutes from the previous meeting were agreed and signed by the
Chairman.

2

Agenda Item 6 – 2014 -17 PI Action Plan – Marked 008
RESOLVED
That the proposed Action Plan was agreed by members and that individual
partners will now seek approval for adoption of the plan.

3

Agenda Item 9 – Commercial Waste – Marked 010
RESOLVED
That members agreed all recommendations; the assessment of the current
position on commercial waste and for an officer working group to be set up.

4

Agenda Item 12 – Date of next meeting
RESOLVED
That the date of the next Project Integra Strategic Board meeting will be on
Thursday 26 June 2014, Test Valley Borough Council

Officer contact details
Name
Position
E-mail
Telephone

Chris Noble
Head of Project Integra
Chris.noble@hants.gov.uk
01962 832

Page 1 of 1

Page 129

Page 130

Project Integra Action Plan
2014 – 2017
1

Introduction

1.1

The Project Integra Review and the refresh of the Joint Municipal Waste
Management Strategy led to development of a focused action plan
covering the period 2013-2016. Some of these actions have now been
completed, and some will remain on the next action plan. In addition
there are some new actions added. This Action Plan sets out the:
•
•

Proposed key actions for the Project Integra Partnership in
2014/15 with longer term actions through to 2016/17;
Budget for the proposed activities and the contributions of each
partner.

2

Purpose

2.1

To set out a Draft Action Plan for the Project Integra Partnership for
2014 – 2017 for consideration and approval by the Partner Authorities.

3

Approach

3.1

This Action Plan covers the collective actions of Project Integra partners
to deliver the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS).
Actions involving two or more Partner Authorities are included – actions
by individual authorities are not.

3.2

The Action Plan is a 3 year rolling plan in recognition of the fact that
some actions will take longer than a year to complete. However, most
detail is for 2014/15.

3.3

The Action Plan is prepared annually by Strategy Officers and presented
for agreement by the Project Integra Strategic Board (PISB) and then for
approval by each authority.

3.4

In the case of the Recycle for Hampshire education campaign, it is
proposed that a notice period of at least 6 months is required should any
of the 10 funding authorities not wish to partake in this action. This is to
reflect the fact that there are three Education Officers whom may be
affected by such a withdrawal.

3.5

An outline proposal for the action plan was presented at PISB in
November 2013, and this has been used to develop this Draft Action
Plan.

1 of 10
Page 131

4

Partnership Objectives

4.1

The Project Integra Strategic Board is constituted as a Joint Committee
of the 14 local authorities with responsibility for waste management in
Hampshire, Portsmouth and Southampton. The long term waste
disposal contractor Veolia Environmental Services (VES) is a non-voting
member of the Partnership.

4.2

As part of the review the PISB reaffirmed Project Integra’s overall
objective as follows:
To provide a sustainable solution for dealing with Hampshire's municipal
waste1 in an environmentally sound, cost effective and reliable way.
Success in achieving this depends on joint working between all the
parties in the best interests of our communities.

4.3

The PISB also agreed the operational focus for its activities through a
number of work streams as follows.
Working to reduce costs across the whole system through:
1. Communication and behaviour change.
2. Waste prevention including reuse.
3. Recycling and performance improvements - for instance through
reducing contamination, increasing capture of materials,
improving income for materials, changing management
arrangements.
4. Reducing landfill.
5. Joint working arrangements and activities.
6. Improve efficiency and effectiveness of services through
collaboration with neighbouring authorities including SE7.

4.4

Identified below is a table of key actions for the Partnership together
with timescales and those responsible for delivery.

1

This refers to the waste streams local authorities have responsibility for (mainly waste from households
with small amounts of waste from businesses). Government now refers this as ‘Local Authority Collected
Municipal Waste’.

2 of 10
Page 132

Table 1: Key Actions for Project Integra 2014 – 2017
Action 1

Recycle for Hampshire (R4H)
Programme
Detail
Deliver the approved R4H programme in
accordance with the agreed timescale.
Programme delivered on budget to time
with all actions complete.
To include:
• Campaigns to:
o increase capture of specific
materials for recycling
o Reduce contamination (including
implementing contamination
compact)
• Recycle Week events
• Promotion of reduced price compost
bins and accessories
Targets
• Demonstrable increase in material
capture and reduction in
contamination in areas engaged
• Recycle Week events delivered
• Continued sales of compost bins
and accessories across Hampshire
How will this
• Monitoring capture rate and
be measured?
contamination rates via the Materials
Analysis Facility
• Monitoring of marketing metrics
Responsibility • Lead Head of Project Integra
• Recycle for Hampshire team
(delivery)
• PI Communications Sub Committee
oversees this work
Resources
R4H budget – significantly reduced in
14-15 compared with previous years.
Detail in section 5 of this action plan.
Timescale
Annual Programme with specific
objectives

3 of 10
Page 133

Workstream Contribution
•
•
•

•
•

•

Communication and
behaviour change
Waste prevention
including reuse
Recycling and
performance
improvements
Reducing landfill
Joint working
arrangements and
activities
Whole system costs

Action 2
Detail

Schools Recycling Programme
To deliver the Schools Recycling
Programme to 60 schools per annum
across 9 district areas.
To maximise the benefit of the Schools
Recycling Programme and with R4H
ensure that resources, (including web
based), are used as widely and
effectively as possible. (Secondary
schools/ Brownies/charities etc)
Targets
Improved awareness of waste &
resource management among the
population as a result of the education
programme.
How will this
• Parent surveys
be measured? • Monitoring of recycling rates school
catchment areas
Responsibility • Lead Head of Project Integra
• Recycle for Hampshire team
(delivery)
• PI Communications Sub Committee
oversees this work
Resources
R4H budget
Timescale
Annual Programme with specific
objectives, to tie in with R4H campaigns.
Action 3
Detail

Workstream Contribution
• Communication and
behaviour change
• Waste prevention
including reuse
• Recycling and
performance
improvements
• Reducing landfill
• Joint working
arrangements and
activities
• Whole system costs

Waste Prevention Plan
Workstream Contribution
Implementation of PI Waste Prevention
• Communication and
Plan, focusing on a reduction in residual
behaviour change
waste collected and disposed of in PI.
• Waste prevention
Targets
• Finalise plan for implementation
including reuse
by June 14
• Recycling and
• To perform better than national
performance
household waste arisings trends
improvements
• Other metrics to be included in
• Reducing landfill
implementation plan
• Joint working
Responsibility Lead Head of Project Integra
arrangements and
All Project Integra authorities (WDA
activities
lead)
• Whole system costs
Resources
To be determined in implementation plan
Timescale
Implementation programme to be
finalised by June 2014 and implemented
up to March 2017.

4 of 10
Page 134

Action 4

Resource Capture and Treatment
Review
Detail
Carry out a review of existing and
potential new capture methods and
treatment options for waste collected in
PI. Demonstrate PI compliance with the
requirement for “Separate Collection”
under the Waste Regulations 2011.
Targets
• Present detailed report and a range of
options for change to PISB for
consideration.
• Options to be presented on a costbenefit basis.
• Where approved by PISB, devise
implementation plan for changes to
capture and /or treatment methods.
How will this
• Regular updates on review to PISB
be measured?
and individual partners
• Delivery of final report and
recommendations
Responsibility • Lead Head of Project Integra
• Project scope will set out governance
arrangements, but a project team and
review steering group will be required
• All partners will be required to engage
in the review in order to complete
project
Resources
Project Integra budgets – exact staff
resourcing TBC.
Timescale
Initial report on plastic composition by
April 2014. Interim review report with
initial findings at Oct 2014 PISB, final
report with recommendations and draft
implementation plan for January 2015
PISB.
Action 5
Detail

Workstream Contribution
•

•
•

•

Recycling and
performance
improvements
Reducing landfill
Joint working
arrangements and
activities
Whole system costs

Joint Working outside of PI
Workstream Contribution
Ensure engagement with further
• All
developments of the SE7 waste
workstream and the waste partnerships
in the south east region, to increase
lobbying power and identify opportunities
for closer working together.
Target
Increased opportunities for performance
improvement and reduced costs.
Responsibility Lead Head of Project Integra
in conjunction with HCC SE7 lead
Resources
Project Integra Budget
Timescale
2014-2017

5 of 10
Page 135

Action 6
Detail

Joint Procurement
Carry out joint procurement exercises
where feasible, including:
• Waste containers (bins, boxes, bags)
• Vehicles
• Small WEEE recycling banks
• Training and work placements
Targets
• Achieve better value for money and
significant savings for Project Integra
partners.
• Produce annual report on progress.
Responsibility Lead Head of Project Integra
With procurement advice from a lead
individual authority when required
Resources
Project Integra Budget
Timescale
2014/15 and onwards if appropriate

Workstream Contribution
• Joint working
arrangements and
activities
• Whole system costs
• Recycling and
performance
improvements
• Reducing landfill

Action 7
Detail

Workstream Contribution
• Joint working
arrangements and
activities

Health and Safety
Through the PI group Common
Approach to Safety and Health (CASH)
ensure best practice shared and projects
delivered by task and finish groups,
including:
• Noise impact of glass collections
• Organising a CASH conference
Target
• Reduction in lost-time incidents in
Hampshire
• Produce annual report for PISB on the
progress made by the group
• Influence national H&S debate
through multi-agency H&S forums
Responsibility Head of Project Integra and chair of
CASH
Resources
Project Integra Budget
Timescale
Annual Report June 2014 and June
2015.

6 of 10
Page 136

Action 8
Detail

Glass Recycling Contract
Current PI glass contract ends in 2016.
Review of existing contract and options
for future glass processing to be
developed.
Target
To secure a value for money outlet for PI
glass from 2016 onwards, either buy
extending or re-procuring.
Responsibility Lead Head of Project Integra
in partnership with a lead authority for
procurement - TBC
Resources
To be determined
Timescale
Review existing arrangements during
2015, current contract ends 2016

7 of 10
Page 137

Workstream Contribution
• All

5

Resources

5.1

The forecast for each main element of the Partnership are set out in
Appendix 1:
• Executive £117,200 (-40% change from 2012/13 budget). This is
an estimate – in Jan 2015, the final cost of the executive will be
split between partners as described in 5.3 below. This forecast
assumes that all 15 current partners remain in PI.
• Recycle for Hampshire £138,200;
• Materials Analysis Facility £239,845 (+2.9% change from
2012/13).

5.2

In addition there is £90,000 in the PI holding account, to be used for
projects benefitting all partners. £7,000 has been allocated to a research
project for plastic waste. It is anticipated that further funding will be
required for the Resource Capture and Treatment Review. The review
will require full engagement from all partners to ensure its aims and
objectives are achieved.

5.3

Authority contributions are based on:
• Executive - total number of households with elements for
collection (80%) and disposal (20%);
• Recycle for Hampshire – total number of households (9 WCAs)
plus HCC £50,000;
• Materials Analysis Facility – one third WCAs (evenly split), one
third WDAs (split by tonnage), one third VES.
The contributions for each authority are set out in Appendix 2

5.4

During 14-15, work will begin on designing a model for PI that will
enable it to become self funding in the future.

8 of 10
Page 138

APPENDIX 1

Budgets
Executive
Activities
Staff Costs
Events & Activities
HCC SLA
Printing, Stationery, Legal costs
Gross Expenditure

Costs
72,500
1,000
42,000
1,700
£117,200

Total Income

£117,200

Recycle for Hampshire (exact split of budget TBC)
Activities
Staffing Costs
Schools Recycling Programme Education Officers x 3
Schools Recycling Programme Resources
Home Composting (leaflets to promote bins)
Campaign activity
Total Expenditure

Costs
60,000
45,000
4,000
1,000
28,200
£138,200

Materials Analysis Facility
Costs
£239,845

Total Expenditure

9 of 10
Page 139

APPENDIX 1

Authority Contributions
Partner Contributions 2014/15
Project Integra
Recycle
Project Integra Executive
Dwellings

Page 140

Basingstoke
East Hampshire
Eastleigh
Fareham
Gosport
Hart
Havant
New Forest
Portsmouth
Rushmoor
Southampton
Test Valley
Winchester
Hampshire
Veolia

72,080
49,590
53,160
48,160
36,610
37,060
52,920
80,260
88,810
38,590
101,720
50,000
49,780
568,210

Collection

Disposal

80%

20%

8,564.00
5,892.00
6,316.00
5,722.00
4,350.00
4,403.00
6,287.00
9,536.00
10,552.00
4,585.00
12,085.00
5,941.00
5,914.00
0.00

0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
2,638.00
0.00
3,021.00
0.00
0.00
16,877.60
22,536.60

Combined

Material

Project

Project

For

PI

Analysis

Integra

Fund

Hampshire

Funding

Facility

& MAF

Total

Total

Total

Total

8,564.00
5,892.00
6,316.00
5,722.00
4,350.00
4,403.00
6,287.00
9,536.00
13,190.00
4,585.00
15,106.00
5,941.00
5,914.00
16,878.00
4,517.00

90,147.00

MAF

117,201.00

0.00

9,804.00
10,510.00
9,521.00
7,238.00
7,327.00
10,462.00
15,867.00
7,629.00
9,841.00
50,000.00
-

8,564.00
15,696.00
16,826.00
15,243.00
11,588.00
11,730.00
16,749.00
25,403.00
13,190.00
12,214.00
15,106.00
5,941.00
15,755.00
66,878.00
4,517.00

6,149.87
6,149.87
6,149.87
6,149.87
6,149.87
6,149.87
6,149.87
6,149.87
15,233.60
6,149.87
16,793.29
6,149.87
6,149.87
60,221.21
79,948.36

14,713.87
21,845.87
22,975.87
21,392.87
17,737.87
17,879.87
22,898.87
31,552.87
28,423.60
18,363.87
31,899.29
12,090.87
21,904.87
127,099.21
84,465.36

138,199.00

255,400.00

239,845.07

495,245.07

Notes - Differences from budget figures are due to rounding and interest on balances held during the year. Dwelling Figures are
taken from Waste Data Flow.
10 of 10

Agenda Item 11(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate
Objective:

Planning and Development
Welborne Quarterly Financial Update
Director of Planning and Development
Fareham Local Plan
To protect and enhance the environment
Maintain and extend prosperity
Leisure for Health and Fun
A balanced housing market
Strong and Inclusive Communities
Dynamic, prudent and progressive Council

Purpose:
To advise the Executive on the updated costs for the preparation of the Welborne
Plan.

Executive summary:
This report sets out the latest projected and incurred expenditure relating to the
development of the Welborne Plan. Some costs have risen since the previous
update as a result of additional work required to bring forward the Welborne Plan
and provide an agreed basis for delivering the new community.
The Council has received confirmation of the approval of a bid to the Department of
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) for Capacity Funding to assist with the
planning and delivery of Welborne. Funding has been received for 2013/14, with
potentially a further amount in 2014/15.

Recommendation:
That the Executive notes the quarterly update on the financial costs of producing the
Welborne Plan.

Reason:
To set out the updated expenditure and funding involved in the preparation of the
Welborne Plan.

Cost of proposals:
To be met within existing resources and predominately funded from the Housing
and Planning Delivery Grant reserve, Capacity Funding secured from Department
for Communities and Local Government and New Homes Bonus.

Page 141

Appendices:

None.

Background papers: Report to the Executive on 2 December 2013 - Preparation
of Welborne Plan: Quarterly Financial Update.
Report to the Executive on 2 September 2013 - Preparation
of Welborne Plan: Quarterly Financial Update.
Report to the Executive on 5 November 2012 - New
Community North of Fareham Area Action Plan - Revised
Timetable Plan Preparation by the Director of Planning and
Environment.

Page 142

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 07 April 2014
Subject: Welborne Quarterly Financial Update
Briefing by: Director of Planning and Development
Portfolio: Planning and Development
INTRODUCTION
1.

A report to the Executive on 2 December 2013 set out the quarterly update report on the
projected and incurred expenditure relating to the development of a Local Plan for
Welborne. These figures are set out in the table below.

WELBORNE PROJECT COSTS – DECEMBER 2013
2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

£

£

£

£

£

Staff and running costs

27,402

128,526

199,683

252,800

257,900

Evidence base and
supporting costs

82,034

194,611

319,649

474,700

78,600

109,436

323,137

519,332

727,500

336,500

Total Costs
Total Overall Project
costs at end of 2014/15

2,015,905

PROGRESSION OF WELBORNE PLAN AND ASSOCIATED COSTS
2.

The Publication Draft Welborne Plan was presented to the Executive and Council in
February 2014 and has now been published for a period of public representations.

3.

Subsequent to these figures being prepared significant further work has been
undertaken. Substantial engagement with key parties including the major landowners,
statutory agencies has been supported by ongoing technical work including additional
consultancy work.

4.

Arising from this has been the need for additional work on masterplanning, transport
and viability advice to support ongoing considerations of the delivery of Welborne. This
is required to support the delivery of Welborne in accordance with the timetable set out
in the Publication Draft Welborne Plan. Additional consultancy costs of some £80,000
have been incurred in 2013/14. This has resulted in an increase in the evidence base
Page 143

and supporting costs from £474,000 to £554,000 for 2013/14.
5.

It is likely that the estimate for consultancy costs for 2014/15 will increase, due to
increased consultancy fees to support the Examination of the Welborne Plan and further
measures to support delivery on the ground. The scope of any additional work will only
become apparent over the coming months following the period of representations to the
Plan, therefore it has not been possible to quantify any likely increase in costs at the
present time and the estimate for evidence base and supporting costs for 2014/15
remains unchanged at £78,600.

6.

During early 2014 staff headcount has fallen within the Welborne team. However, staff
capacity will need to be secured to take the project through to Examination, and for that
reason the staff costs for 2014/15 remain unchanged for now. It is anticipated that any
reduction in staff costs for 2014/15 will offset the potential increases in consultancy
fees. Once the scope of any savings and additional work is known this will be reflected
in subsequent financial updates.

7.

The updated costs relating to the development of the Welborne Plan are set out in the
table below.

UPDATED WELBORNE PROJECT COSTS – April 2014
2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

£

£

£

£

£

Staff and running costs

27,402

128,526

199,683

252,800

257,900

Evidence base and
supporting costs

82,034

194,611

319,649

554,704

78,600

109,436

323,137

519,332

807,504

336,500

Total Costs
Total Overall Project
costs at end of 2014/15

2,095,909

8.

Since the last Update, the Council secured confirmation of approval of a bid to the
Department of Communities and Local Government (CLG) for Capacity Funding to
assist with the planning and delivery of Welborne. The payment for 2013/14 for
£485,000 has been authorised, with the potential for further funding to follow in 2014/15
subject to Ministerial approval.

9.

The updated figures for funding streams relating to the development of the
Welborne Plan are set out in the table below.

Page 144

WELBORNE PLAN FUNDING STREAMS – APRIL 2014
2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

£

£

£

£

£

100,000

-

-

-

-

9,436

143,137

519,332

322,504

174,296

Homes and
Communities
Association (HCA)

-

150,000

-

-

-

Partnership for Urban
South Hampshire
(PUSH)

-

30,000

-

-

-

Eco Town Funding
Planning/Housing
Delivery Grant

Capacity Funding

485,000

New Homes Bonus
Total Costs

-

-

-

109,436

323,137

519,332

162,204
807,504

Total Overall Project
funding at end of
2014/15

336,500
2,095,909

10. In general terms, funding for the Welborne project is met first through grant received to
support the delivery of the new community, then from the remainder of Housing and
Planning Delivery Grant previously received by the Council. Finally, any shortfall can be
met by New Homes Bonus previously received from the Government.
11. It should be noted that there is the potential for further Capacity Funding to be secured
for 2014/15 to support the delivery of Welborne. The initial indication from CLG is that
£375,000 may be available for 2014/15, though the Council is currently in discussion
with CLG about the availability of further support. The outcomes of this will be reported
in future updates.
RISK ASSESSMENT
12. There are no significant risk considerations in relation to this report.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
13. The costs of the Welborne Plan have been predominantly funded from the Housing and
Planning Delivery Grant reserve which has been set aside for studies relating to the
project and other Action Plan projects. This has now been supplemented by Capacity
Funding for 2013/14, with the potential for further funding for 2014/15. Since 2004/5 the
Council has received over £3 million of funding through Planning Delivery Grant,
Housing and Planning Delivery Grant and Capacity Funding.
14. The confirmation of the approval of the Capacity Funding bid submitted to CLG (as
referred to in paragraph 8) means that the amount of Housing and Planning Delivery
Grant that will need to be used in 2013/14 is significantly reduced, and removes the
Page 145

need to call on funding from the New Homes Bonus for that year. If Capacity Funding is
received for 2014/15 this will also reduce the amounts of Housing and Planning Delivery
Grant and New Homes Bonus required.
CONCLUSION
15. It is recommended that the Executive notes the proposed expenditure relating to the
production of the Welborne Plan providing planning policy to guide the development of
the new settlement. The adoption of the Welborne Plan will provide the means of
ensuring that the Council achieves its ambitions for Welborne including the timely
provision of infrastructure and provision of housing to meet local housing needs.

Reference Papers: None

Page 146

Agenda Item 12(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
07 April 2014
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:

Policy and Resources
Broadcut Depot - Boundary Wall
Director of Finance and Resources
Asset Management Plan

Corporate
Objective:

A dynamic, prudent, progressive and best value Council

Purpose:
To obtain the Executive’s views on which of the cost options as set out in the
briefing paper to take down and ultimately rebuild the Council’s wall adjacent to the
boundary of the Depot should be implemented.

Executive summary:
As a consequence of the further erosion of the Wallington river bank due to
excessive rainfall and resultant heavily increased river flow it is necessary prior to
the undertaking of civil engineering works to install gabions to take down and
ultimately rebuild the Council’s adjacent boundary wall. The cost options for this
work are set out in the briefing paper for the Executive’s consideration.
The report also advises of the estimated cost of installing the gabions and that this
has been included in the ‘one off’ bid to the Treasury by Defra and the Environment
Agency for additional funds. If the bid is unsuccessful then as mentioned in the
report the cost of this work will also be the responsibility of the Council who has its
Depot asset at risk.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive
a) confirms which of the options for taking down and rebuilding the Council’s
wall adjacent to the Depot should be implemented; and
b) notes the risk that the Council will also have to fund the cost to undertake civil
engineering works required to install gabions if the ‘one off’ bid to the
Treasury by Defra and the Environment Agency for additional funds is
unsuccessful.

Page 147

Reason:
To enable works to proceed to take down and ultimately rebuild the Council’s
adjacent boundary wall due the further erosion of the Wallington river bank.

Cost of proposals:
The cost options range between £15,400 and £49,100 and would be funded from
the Council’s capital fund.

Appendices:
Background papers:

Page 148

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

07 April 2014

Subject: Broadcut Depot - Boundary Wall
Briefing by: Director of Finance and Resources
Portfolio: Policy and Resources
INTRODUCTION
1.

During the 2013/14 winter period, further erosion of the Wallington river bank has been
observed due to excessive rainfall and resultant heavily increased river flow. This
further erosion has been confirmed by the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership.
Because of the erosion, which has affected the Council’s adjacent boundary wall, it
has been necessary to close temporarily for safety reasons the footpath between the
wall and river bank pending the rebuilding of the wall and civil engineering works
referred to below.

2.

It was anticipated that the Environment Agency would be willing to install gabions to
deal with the erosion of the river bank but subject to the Council making the wall safe
by removing it first. As regards the planning situation for the wall it is believed that both
the taking down and rebuilding of the boundary wall or the erection of a palisade fence
would constitute Local Authority Permitted Development as it would involve works on
land belonging to or maintained by the Council required for the purposes of a function
exercised by them i.e. to secure the depot. As regards the installation of the gabions
by the Environment Agency they have provided the following clarification of their
position.

3.

The liability for riverbank erosion protection works normally falls to the riverside
landowner to implement measures to protect their land and property. Officers
undertook a land registry search. Unfortunately the search could not ascertain the
ownership of the river bank and footpath as this narrow strip of land between the river
and Depot is unregistered. Therefore the liability for the works required falls to the
Council as owners of the adjoining Depot. It is very important to put in place a plan of
action to deal with the further erosion that destabilises the footpath and which could
ultimately undermine the Depot building.

4.

The preferred option for repair work is a stepped gabion installation. These measures
will require an area of the bank to be excavated below the path and to below bed level,
which would be difficult / dangerous with the brick wall in situ, hence demolition of the
brick wall was suggested. It is likely that a section of at least 10metres length would be
required and it would probably be a series of stepped gabion cages that are installed
to below bed level on a concrete slab.
Page 149

5.

Any work will also need to accommodate a surface water drainage pipe that comes
through the riverbank at this point;

6.

A Flood Defence Consent will need to be applied for from the Environment Agency.
This will be submitted by the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership.

7.

A key point in respect of costs is that the Environment Agency has only offered to
supply the wire gabion cages that would be required. All civil work including
excavation, temporary works and installation of the gabion baskets along with filling
them with suitable rock material would need to be arranged and funded by the
landowner but as mentioned above as the narrow strip of land between the river and
Depot is unregistered the costs will be the responsibility of the Council who has their
Depot asset at risk.

8.

In respect of a short term solution, the opportunity to implement temporary works is
limited because of both the height of the riverbank and energy of the river at this
location. This points to use of gabions as the preferred option. The installation of the
work will also need to be delayed until the river level drops sufficiently to allow safe
working in this area without flooding any excavations and exacerbating erosion
problems. This is estimated at the earliest on advice from the Environment Agency to
be late April / May.

9.

In view of the above officers have liaised with the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership
to discuss the way forward. The Partnership is to seek budget estimates for the work
to install the gabions from their Minor Works Framework contractors. Officers have
obtained estimated costs to remove the boundary wall and these are set out below.

10. Officers have contacted the Council’s insurers to ascertain if any of the works required
i.e. demolition and possible rebuilding of the wall and installation of the gabions is
covered by insurance. Our insurers have confirmed that unfortunately an insurance
claim cannot be made for the works.
ESTIMATED COSTS FOR REBUILDING BOUNDARY WALL
11. Estimated costs have been obtained for three options to undertake works to the
existing boundary wall at the rear of the depot building that requires removal and
reinstatement to allow the works to rebuild the river bank to proceed.
12. The scope of the works are the removal of the full height wall for its complete length
and exclude one bay nearest to the Depot fire exit gate. The work assumed utilising
the existing foundation. However further investigation on the condition and type of
foundation prior to constructing the new wall was required.
13. Building Services arranged an investigation to check the foundation detail for the wall
which found that it only extended 225mm below the base of the existing wall. This was
inspected by Opus, the Council’s structural engineer for this project, and they are
recommending that a complete new foundation is formed for the new wall.
14. An estimated cost for the additional works to excavate and construct a new foundation
is £9,000 based on a standard construction detail and this cost has been included in
the estimates for options 1 and 2 but is not required for option 3. The estimated costs
for each of the options are as follows.

Page 150

Option 1
Demolish the existing wall 24metres long by 2.4metre high down to ground level river side.
Clean up existing bricks and store on site. Construct new wall using salvaged bricks and an
allowance of new bricks.
Estimated cost £27,000. Plus VAT
Option 2
All as option 1 but allowance to remove existing bricks from site and dispose. Supply
reclaimed bricks to rebuild as existing.
Estimated cost £32,000. Plus VAT
Option 3
Demolish the existing wall 24metres long by 2.4metre high down to ground level depot fire
exit side. Erect new metal palisade fence on path side of existing boundary.
Estimated cost £7,300. Plus VAT
Contingency and reinstatement of footpath and post and rail fence
A contingency sum is allowed for this project due to a number of uncertain items such as
foundation condition, condition and quality of existing brickwork. Therefore initially a
provisional sum of £5,000 is allowed.
In addition, on the basis that the Eastern Solent Coastal Partnership reinstate to a soil
surface, an allowance is required to construct a new footway (to rural footway standards) and
a post/rail fence to the river side of the path, both for the length of the new wall at an
estimated cost of £3,100 plus VAT.
PLANNING CONSIDERATION OF THE OPTIONS
15. The Council’s Conservation Officer has provided the following comments on the
options for taking down and rebuilding the Council’s adjacent boundary wall.
16. The wall is a red brick construction approximately 2.5 m high in a traditional brick bond
that forms a boundary to the Council depot. The Council depot lies on the site of the
former Wallington Tannery, which operated in the Village from the 17th century to the
early 20th century. The wall is likely to be a surviving part of that Tannery site. For the
purposes of planning the wall is not a designated heritage asset and not therefore of
national interest (i.e. a listed building) but would be considered as a non-designated
heritage asset as it has some local heritage interest.
17. The wall lies just outside the boundary of the Wallington Conservation Area, which
runs along the bank of the river, and is visible from the public footpath adjacent. It can
also be seen from within the conservation area in views across the river from North
Wallington and also from the nearby footbridge. In that respect it makes a contribution
to the setting of the conservation area and also provides some screening of the council
depot building. The contribution that historic boundary walls make to the character of
the Wallington Conservation Area is set out in the adopted Wallington Conservation
Area Character Assessment. Therefore it would be preferable if possible to re-instate
the wall re-using the existing materials, with matching mortar and pointing finish, rather
than replacing it with a fence. This is option 1 at an estimated cost of £27k plus VAT.
18. As referred to in paragraph 2 of the briefing paper it is believed that both the taking
down and rebuilding of the boundary wall or the erection of a palisade fence would
constitute Local Authority Permitted Development as it would involve works on land
Page 151

belonging to or maintained by the Council required for the purposes of a function
exercised by them i.e. to secure the depot.
COST AND FUNDING OF WORKS TO INSTALL GABIONS
19. Defra are in discussion with HM Treasury funding required for works arising following
the surge, high tides and flooding during December 2013 and post the Christmas/New
Year period. For 2014/15 the Environment Agency are also being asked to support
Defra in a ‘one off’ bid to the Treasury for additional funding in 2014/15 to
repair/refurbish/replace all assets which have deteriorated as a consequence of the
sequence of surge and flood events, and where it is believed there is a justified case
either on economic, urgency or legal grounds, for reinstatement or improvement.
However, to date, these funding sources have yet to be secured.
20. The estimated cost of installing the Gabions is estimated to be £50,000. The Eastern
Solent Coastal Partnership on behalf of the Council has included this estimated cost in
the ‘one off’ bid to the Treasury by Defra and the Environment Agency. A decision on
funding is still awaited. If the bid is unsuccessful then as mentioned in this briefing
paper the cost will be the responsibility of the Council who has an asset at risk i.e. the
Depot.
RISK ASSESSMENT
21. The liability for riverbank erosion protection works normally falls to the riverside
landowner to implement measures to protect their land and property. Unfortunately
following a Land Registry search the ownership of the river bank and footpath could
not be determined as it is unregistered. Therefore the liability for the works required
falls to the Council as owners of the adjoining Depot.
22. The cost to take down and ultimately rebuild the wall adjacent to the boundary of the
Depot will be met by the Council. The cost of installing the gabions will also be the
responsibility of the Council who has its Depot asset at risk. Whilst this cost has been
included in a ‘one off’ bid to the Treasury by Defra and the Environment Agency for
additional funds there is a risk that the bid is unsuccessful and therefore the Council
will have to fund the £50k estimated cost to undertake the civil engineering works
required to install gabions.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
23. There are a range of scenarios involved in resolving the issues associated with the
riverbank and wall at Wallington.
Wall Option 1
Demolition and construction works

Wall Option 2

Wall Option 3

27,000

32,000

7,300

Foundation works to wall

9,000

9,000

n/a

Footpath reconstruction and fencing

3,100

3,100

3,100

Contingency

5,000

5,000

5,000

44,100

49,100

15,400

Total

Page 152

24. Regardless of the Option chosen, then costs associated for this work would need to be
funded from the Council’s capital reserves.
25. In addition, the Executive are asked to consider earmarking up to £50,000 within the
capital reserve for the riverbank reconstruction, in the event that the bid for external
funding of this work is unsuccessful.
CONCLUSION
26. As a consequence of the further erosion of the Wallington river bank due to excessive
rainfall and resultant heavily increased river flow, it is necessary prior to the undertaking
of civil engineering works to install gabions to take down and ultimately rebuild the
Council’s adjacent boundary wall. The cost options for this work are set out in the
briefing paper for the Executive to provide a view on which option should be pursued.
The briefing paper also advises of the estimated cost of installing the gabions and that
this has been included in the ‘one off’ bid to the Treasury by Defra and the Environment
Agency for additional funds. If the bid is unsuccessful the cost of this work will also be
the responsibility of the Council.

Reference Papers:

Page 153

Page 154

Agenda Item 14(1)

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 155

Page 160

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 161

Page 172

Agenda Item 15(1)

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 173

Page 176

